UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 6-K

REPORT OF FOREIGN PRIVATE ISSUER PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-16 OR 15d-16 UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the month of November 2023

Commission File Number: 001-40212

Connect Biopharma Holdings Limited (Translation of registrant's name into English)

12265 El Camino Real, Suite 350 San Diego, CA 92130, USA (Address of principal executive office)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant files or will file annual reports under cover of Form 20-F or Form 40-F.

Form 20-F ⊠ Form 40-F □

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is submitting the Form 6-K in paper as permitted by Regulation S-T Rule 101(b)(1): □

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is submitting the Form 6-K in paper as permitted by Regulation S-T Rule 101(b)(7): □

INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS REPORT ON FORM 6-K

Appointment of Compensation Committee Member

On November 17, 2023, the Board of Directors (the "Board") of Connect Biopharma Holdings Limited (the "Company") appointed Kan Chen, Ph.D., current member of the Board, to serve as a member the Compensation Committee of the Board (the "Compensation Committee"). Dr Chen is filling a vacancy created upon the previously announced resignation of Derek DiRocco, Ph.D., former member of the Compensation Committee, from the Board.

Entry into a Material Definitive Agreement.

On November 21, 2023, the Company announced that two of its wholly owned subsidiaries, Connect Biopharma HongKong Limited ("Connect HK") and Suzhou Connect Biopharma Co., Ltd. ("Connect SZ" and, together with Connect HK, the "Licensor"), have entered into an exclusive license and collaboration agreement with Simcere Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (the "Licensee"), a subsidiary of Simcere Pharmaceutical Group Ltd to develop and commercialize Connect Biopharma's rademikibart in Greater China.

Under the agreement, the Licensor will complete all of rademikibart's ongoing China clinical trials and related analysis in atopic dermatitis (AD), which is on track for a new drug application submission for AD in China by the end of Q1 2024. The Licensee has been granted exclusive rights to develop, manufacture and commercialize rademikibart for all indications in Greater China, including mainland China, Hong Kong, Macau, and Taiwan, while the Licensor retains rights in all other markets. The Licensee will be responsible for rademikibart's new drug application for AD in China and will also conduct and be responsible for the costs of all future clinical studies in all additional disease indications for rademikibart in Greater China.

According to the terms of the agreement, the Licensor will receive a ¥150 million RMB (US\$21 million) upfront payment, up to ¥875 million RMB (US\$120 million) upon achieving certain development and commercial milestones, in addition to royalties up to low double-digit percentages of net sales. The translation from renminbi to U.S. dollars was made at RMB 7.3166 to US\$1.00, representing the exchange rate as of October 31, 2023 set forth in the China Foreign Exchange Trade System.

The description of the Exclusive License and Collaboration Agreement is qualified in its entirety by the Exclusive License and Collaboration Agreement, the English translation of which is furnished herewith as Exhibit 99.1, and incorporated herein by reference.

Other Events.

On November 21, 2023, the Company announced positive topline results from the Stage 2 (maintenance period) of its China pivotal trial evaluating rademikibart's (formerly known as CBP-201) efficacy and safety in patients with moderate-to-severe AD. These results follow the previously reported Stage 1 results of the trial, which met all primary and key secondary endpoints.

Positive Stage 2 results at Week 52 show the potential of rademikibart as a Q4W treatment for AD

In Stage 2, patients that achieved EASI-50 (responders) regardless of initial treatment in the 16-week Stage 1 were randomized to either dosing every two weeks ("Q2W") rademikibart (n=113) or dosing every four weeks ("Q4W") rademikibart (n=112) arms. Patients that did not achieve EASI-50 (non-responders) were assigned to an open label Q2W rademikibart arm (n=86).

An efficacy analysis in patients that achieved Investigator's Global Assessment scale ("IGA") 0/1 or Eczema Area and Severity Index ("EASI")-75 at Week 16, showed that with both Q2W at Q4W dosing regimens, 76%-87% of them maintained their IGA 0/1 and 92% of patients maintained their EASI-75 at Week 52, respectively.

Rademikibart Week 52 Results In patients that achieved IGA 0/1 or EASI-75 at Week 16		
Rademikibart 300 mg Q4W	Rademikibart 300 mg Q2W	
87.2%	76.0%	
(n=40) (n=40)	(n=34)	
91.9% (n=79)	91.7% (n=76)	
	In patients that achieved IGA Rademikibart 300 mg Q4W 87.2% (n=40)	

Evaluation of all patients that achieved EASI-50 at Week 16 with rademikibart (active drug responders) showed continued improvement from Week 16 to Week 52. 21%-28% more patients achieved IGA 0/1, and 11%-16% more patients achieved EASI-75 at Week 52.

	Rademikibart Week 52 Results In patients that achieved EASI-50 at Week 16			
	Rademikibart 300 mg Q4W (n=91)		Rademikibart 300 mg Q2W (n=91)	
	Week 16	Week 52	Week 16	Week 52
IGA 0/1 with ≥2-point reduction	41.8%	62.6%	30.9%	59.1%
EASI-75	73.6%	84.6%	68.5%	84.8%

Additionally, of the patients who achieved a clinically meaningful \geq 4-point reduction in peak pruritus numerical rating scale ("PP-NRS"), 95.2% were able to maintain that level with Q4W dosing and 81.6% with Q2W dosing at the end of the study. With respect to quality of life, a \geq 5-point reduction on the dermatology life quality index ("DLQI") is considered clinically important and 93.4% (Q2W) and 90.0% (Q4W) were able to maintain this level at the end of the 52-week study.

Treatment with 300 mg Q2W and Q4W of rademikibart was generally well tolerated, and there were no new safety signals. There was only one patient discontinuation due to an adverse event (pregnancy) in the rademikibart Q2W open label arm.

On November 21, 2023, the Company issued the press release attached hereto as Exhibit 99.2. The furnishing of the attached press releases is not an admission as to the materiality of any information therein. The information contained in the press releases is summary information that is intended to be considered in the context of more complete information included in the Company's filings with the SEC and other public announcements that the Company has made and may make from time to time. The Company undertakes no duty or obligation to update or revise the information contained in this report, although it may do so from time to time as its management believes is appropriate. Any such updating may be made through the filing or furnishing of other reports or documents with the SEC or through other public disclosures.

The information in the paragraphs above under "Information Contained in this Report on Form 6-K" in this Report on Form 6-K shall be deemed to be incorporated by reference into the registration statements on Form F-3 (File No. 333-264340) and Form S-8 (File Nos. 333-254254 and 333-266006) of the Company, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, and to be a part thereof from the date on which this report is furnished, to the extent not superseded by documents or reports subsequently filed or furnished.

Forward-Looking Statements

The Company cautions that statements included in this report that are not a description of historical facts are forward-looking statements. Words such as "may," "could," "will," "would," "should," "expect," "plan," "anticipate," "believe," "estimate," "intend," "predict," "seek," "contemplate," "look forward," "potential," "continue" or "project" or the negative of these terms or other comparable terminology are intended to identify forward-looking statements. These statements include the Company's plans to advance the development of its product candidates, the timing of achieving any development, regulatory or commercial milestones or reporting data or whether such milestones or data will be achieved or generated, including whether any new drug application will be submitted or accepted and the timing thereof, and the potential of such product candidates, including to achieve any benefit, improvement, differentiation or profile or any product approval or be effective, and whether the Company's Greater China partnership will meet expectations. The inclusion of forward-looking statements should not be regarded as a representation by the Company that any of its plans will be achieved. Actual data may differ materially from those set forth in this report due to the risks and uncertainties inherent in the Company's business and other risks described in the Company's filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC"), including the Company's Annual Report on Form 20-F filed with the SEC on April 11, 2023, and its other reports. Investors are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forwardlooking statements, which speak only as of the date hereof, and the Company undertakes no obligation to revise or update this report to reflect events or circumstances after the date hereof. Further information regarding these and other risks is included in the Company's filings with the SEC which are available from the SEC's website (www.sec.gov) and on the Company's website (www.connectbiopharm.com) under the heading "Investors." All forward-looking statements are qualified in their entirety by this cautionary statement. This caution is made under the safe harbor provisions of Section 21E of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995.

Exhibit Index

Exhibit No. Description

- 99.1[†] Exclusive License and Collaboration Agreement dated November 21, 2023 between the Connect Biopharma HongKong Limited, 苏州康乃德生物医药有限公司(Suzhou Connect Biopharma Co., Ltd.) and 先声药业有限公司 (Simcere Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.) (English Translation)
- 99.2 Press Release issued on November 21, 2023: Connect Biopharma Announces Positive Long-Term Data from the China Pivotal Trial of Rademikibart in Patients with Moderateto-Severe Atopic Dermatitis

[†] Portions of this exhibit (indicated by asterisks) have been omitted because the registrant has determined they are not material and would likely cause competitive harm to the registrant if publicly disclosed.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Dated: November 21, 2023

CONNECT BIOPHARMA HOLDINGS LIMITED

By /s/ Steven Chan

Name:Steven ChanTitle:Chief Financial Officer

EXCLUSIVE LICENSE AND COLLABORATION AGREEMENT

by and between

CONNECT BIOPHARMA HONGKONG LIMITED

and

SIMCERE PHARMACEUTICAL CO., LTD.

Table of Contents

1.	DEFINITIONS	3
2.	LICENSE	12
3.	GOVERNANCE	15
4.	DEVELOPMENT AND REGULATORY MATTERS	18
5.	COMMERCIALIZATION	23
6.	MANUFACTURE AND SUPPLY	25
7.	PAYMENTS	26
8.	COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS	30
9.	INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY	32
10.	CONFIDENTIALITY	37
11.	REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES, COVENANTS	40
12.	BOOKS AND RECORDS; AUDIT RIGHTS	44
13.	TERM; TERMINATION	45
14.	INDEMNIFICATION; INSURANCE	52
15.	DISPUTE RESOLUTION	54
16.	MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS	56

EXCLUSIVE LICENSE AND COLLABORATION AGREEMENT

This Exclusive License and Collaboration Agreement (this "Agreement") is entered into as of the 21st of November, 2023 (the "Effective Date"), by and among Connect Biopharma HongKong Limited, a company incorporated under the laws of Hong Kong ("Connect HK"), 苏州康乃德生物医药有限公司(Suzhou Connect Biopharma Co., Ltd.), a company incorporated under the laws of the PRC ("Connect SZ," together with Connect HK, "Licensor"), and 先声药业有限公司 (Simcere Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.) a company incorporated under the laws of the PRC ("Licensee"). Licensor and Licensee are referred to herein individually as a "Party" and collectively as the "Parties".

RECITALS

WHEREAS, Licensor is in Control (as defined below) of certain intellectual property and other rights related to the Licensed Compound (as defined below).

WHEREAS, Licensee agrees to obtain from Licensor an exclusive license under such intellectual property and other rights to Exploit the Licensed Compound in the Field (as defined below) in the Territory (as defined below).

Now Therefore, in consideration of the foregoing premises and the mutual promises, covenants and conditions contained in this Agreement, the Parties agree as follows:

1. **DEFINITIONS**

The following capitalized terms shall have the meanings indicated for purposes of this Agreement.

- 1.1. " **Accounting Standards**" shall mean (a) the International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS") as promulgated by the IFRS® Foundation or its successor organization, or (b) any other accounting standards that are agreed by both Parties in good faith.
- 1.2. **"Affiliate**" shall mean, as to any entity, any Person which directly or indirectly controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with such entity. For purposes of the preceding definition, "**control**" in this Section shall mean beneficial ownership of fifty percent (50%) or more of the outstanding shares, stock or securities of such entity, the ability otherwise to elect a majority of the board of directors of such entity, the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of such entity, or other managing authority over such entity.
- 1.3. **"Applicable Laws"** shall mean the applicable provisions of any and all national, supranational, regional, state and local laws, treaties, statutes, rules, regulations, administrative codes, guidance, ordinances, judgments, decrees, directives, injunctions, orders, permits (including regulatory approvals), and regulatory requirements, of or from any court, arbitrator, Regulatory Authority or other governmental agency or authority having jurisdiction over or related to the subject activity or item, as they may be in effect from time to time.

- 1.4. **"Applicable Territory"** shall mean (a) with respect to Licensee, the Territory, and (b) with respect to Licensor, the rest of the world.
- 1.5. **"Biologics License Application"** or **"BLA"** shall mean a request submitted to the Regulatory Authority in the Territory for permission to market a biologic product in the Territory under the Applicable Laws.
- 1.6. **"Biosimilar"** shall mean, with respect to a Licensed Product in a Region, any biologic product that: (a) has received all necessary approvals including Regulatory Approvals from the applicable Regulatory Authority in such Region for being marketed and sold as a biologic product; (b) is Manufactured and Commercialized by a Third Party that is not any Permitted Sublicensee of Licensee, provided that such Third Party does not purchase or acquire such product in a chain of distribution that included any of Licensee, its Affiliates or their Permitted Sublicensees; and (c) is approved as a biosimilar to the Licensed Product in terms of safety, quality and efficacy for use in such Region by the applicable Regulatory Authority pursuant to the then-current Regulatory Approval processes and standards governing Regulatory Approvals of biosimilars in such Region.
- 1.7. **"Business Day**" shall mean a day other than Saturday, Sunday or any day that banks in New York, the United States or Shanghai, China are required or permitted to be closed.
- 1.8. **"Calendar Quarter"** shall mean each successive period of three (3) calendar months commencing on January 1, April 1, July 1 and October 1; provided that (a) the first Calendar Quarter hereunder shall be deemed to commence upon the Effective Date and (b) the final Calendar Quarter hereunder shall be deemed to expire upon the effective date of the expiration or termination of this Agreement.
- 1.9. **"Calendar Semi-annual Period"** shall mean each successive period of six (6) calendar months commencing on January 1 and July 1; provided that (a) the first Calendar Semi-annual Period hereunder shall be deemed to commence upon the Effective Date and (b) the final Calendar Semi-annual Period hereunder shall be deemed to expire upon the effective date of the expiration or termination of this Agreement.
- 1.10. **"Calendar Year"** shall mean (a) for the first calendar year, the period commencing on the Effective Date and ending on December 31, 2023, (b) for each successive period, beginning on January 1 and ending twelve (12) consecutive calendar months later on December 31, and (c) for the calendar year in which this Agreement expires or is terminated, the period beginning on January 1 of such calendar year and ending on the effective date of the expiration or termination of this Agreement.
- 1.11. "Clinical Study" means a human clinical study conducted on sufficient numbers of human subjects that is designed to (a) establish that a pharmaceutical product is reasonably safe for continued testing, (b) investigate the safety and efficacy of the pharmaceutical product for its intended use, and to define warnings, precautions and adverse reactions that may be associated with the pharmaceutical product in the dosage range to be prescribed or (c) support Regulatory Approval of such pharmaceutical product or label expansion of such pharmaceutical product. Without limiting the foregoing, Clinical Studies include any Phase I clinical trial, Phase II clinical trial, Phase III clinical trial, or Phase IV clinical trial (as well as bioequivalence (BE) test as

applicable in the PRC) conducted by or on behalf of one or both Parties in connection with this Agreement.

- 1.12. "**COGs**" means the fully-burdened manufacturing, auditable costs in USD or RMB, as determined in accordance with IFRS, of Manufacturing and supplying the Licensed Compound or any Licensed Product(s) in either drug substance and finished drug product form ready for use, as applicable for non-clinical studies and Clinical Studies purposes and Commercial purposes.
- 1.13. **"Commercialize"** or **"Commercialization"** shall mean to market, promote, advertise, exhibit, distribute (including storage for distribution or inventory), detail, sell (including to offer for sale or contract to sell) or otherwise commercially Exploit (including to conduct pricing and reimbursement activities) a pharmaceutical or biological compound or product, or to conduct any activities directed to any of the foregoing (including importing and exporting activities in connection therewith). For the avoidance of doubt, the term "Commercialize" or "Commercialization" shall exclude any activities related to Development, Manufacture, or the [***].

1.14. **"Commercially Reasonable Efforts"** shall mean, with respect to a Party, [***]

- 1.15. **"Confidential Information"** shall mean, subject to the terms and conditions herein, any confidential or proprietary information, and any other information relating to any research project, document, work in process, development, scientific, engineering, manufacturing, marketing or business plan, financial or personnel matter relating to a Party or any of its Affiliates, or any of its present or future products, sales, suppliers, customers, employees, investors or business disclosed, shared, or made available under this Agreement by a Party or any of its Affiliates, whether in oral, written, graphic or electronic form. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Parties agree that the financial terms of this Agreement, the Parties' communication hereunder, the Technology Transfer Plan, the Development Plan and the Commercialization Plan will be considered each Party's Confidential Information.
- 1.16. **"Control"**, with respect to a Party, shall mean the possession of such Party of the ability to grant a license, sublicense, a right to access, a right to use, or other right (as applicable) to the other Party without (a) violating the terms of any agreement or other arrangement with any Third Party or (b) incurring any financial or other obligation to any Third Party by the other Party.
- 1.17. **"Current Cell Line**" shall mean the cell line as set forth in Exhibit F.
- 1.18. **"Develop"** or **"Development"** shall mean to conduct any non-clinical or clinical drug research or development activities, whether before or after the Regulatory Approval, including drug metabolism and pharmacokinetics, translational research, toxicology, pharmacology, test method development and stability testing, process and packaging development and improvement, process validation, process scale-up, formulation development, delivery system development, quality assurance and quality control development, statistical analysis, conduct of clinical trials, regulatory affairs, the preparation and submission of regulatory filings, clinical trial regulatory activities, or any other activities directed towards obtaining or maintaining the Regulatory Approval of any pharmaceutical or biological compound or product. Development

includes use and importation of the relevant compound or product to conduct such development activities. Development does not include Commercialization activities.

- 1.19. **"Exploit"** or "**Exploitation**" shall mean, with respect to any pharmaceutical or biological compound or product, to Develop, Manufacture, have Manufactured, use, Commercialize, import, export, obtain and maintain the Regulatory Approvals and applicable pricing or reimbursement approvals.
- 1.20. **"Field"** shall mean all human diseases, symptoms, conditions, or other indications.
- 1.21. **"First Commercial Sale"** shall mean, with respect to any Licensed Product, the first sale for economic value for end use or consumption of such Licensed Product by Licensee to an independent or unaffiliated Third Party in a jurisdiction after the applicable Regulatory Authorities of such jurisdiction have granted the Regulatory Approvals of such Licensed Product. For clarity, the sale of a Licensed Product at nominal cost for indigent or similar public support or compassionate use programs shall not, in any case, be considered as a First Commercial Sale of such Licensed Product. [***]
- 1.22. **"Force Majeure Event"** shall mean an event beyond the reasonable control of the applicable Party, which may include act of God, war, civil commotion, terrorist act, labor strike or lock-out, epidemic, pandemic, fire, earthquake, flood, storm or like catastrophe, action or inaction of any governmental authority, or any other event similar to those enumerated above.
- 1.23. **"FTE**" means the equivalent of the work of one appropriately qualified individual working on a full-time basis in performing work in connection with this Agreement for a [***] period (consisting of at least a total of [***] of dedicated effort related to scientific, technical or operational work (excluding administrative services).
- 1.24. **"FTE Rate**" means a rate of (a) [***] (b) [***] (c) [***] and (d) [***]
- 1.25. **"Good Clinical Practices"** or **"GCP"** shall mean the then-current standards, practices and procedures promulgated or endorsed by the FDA, the NMPA or other applicable Regulatory Authority, for designing, conducting, recording, analyzing and reporting clinical trials that involve the participation of human subjects, as may be amended from time to time. For clarity, with respect to Licensee, the term "Good Clinical Practices" or "GCP" shall mean such then-current standards, practices and procedures promulgated or endorsed by the NMPA or other applicable Regulatory Authority in the corresponding region, for designing, conducting, recording, analyzing and reporting clinical trials that involve the participation of human subjects, as such standards, practices and procedures may be amended from time to time.
- 1.26. **"Good Laboratory Practices"** or **"GLP"** shall mean the then-current good laboratory practice standards promulgated or endorsed by the FDA, the NMPA or other applicable Regulatory Authority, for nonclinical laboratory studies that support or are intended to support applications to conduct research on human subjects or to obtain any regulatory approval, as may be amended from time to time. For clarity, with respect to Licensee, the term "Good Laboratory Practices" or "GLP" shall mean such then-current good laboratory practice standards promulgated or endorsed by the NMPA or other applicable Regulatory Authority in the corresponding region, for nonclinical laboratory

studies that support or are intended to support applications to conduct research on human subjects or to obtain any regulatory approval, as such standards may be amended from time to time.

- 1.27. **"Good Manufacturing Practices"** or **"GMP"** shall mean the then current good Manufacturing Practice standards promulgated or endorsed by the FDA, the NMPA or other applicable Regulatory Authority for manufacturing of pharmaceutical or biological products, as may be amended from time to time. For clarity, with respect to Licensee, the term "Good Manufacturing Practices" or "GMP shall mean such thencurrent good manufacturing practice standards promulgated or endorsed by the NMPA or other applicable Regulatory Authority in the corresponding region for manufacturing of pharmaceutical or biological products, as such standards may be amended from time to time.
- "Improvements" shall mean any writing, invention, discovery, development, 1.28. modification, technology or know-how with respect to the Licensed Compound and/or any Licensed Product, whether or not patentable, that is conceived, reduced to practice, discovered, Developed or otherwise created at any time, (a) as a result of the conduct of the activities contemplated by this Agreement, or (b) using, benefiting from, incorporating, referencing, based on, or deriving from any Licensed Patents, Licensed Know-How, and/or Confidential Information of Licensor, whether by or on behalf of either Party or jointly by both Parties, including, without limitation, in each case through Affiliates, Permitted Sublicensees, or Subcontractors or with any other Third Parties, which is necessary or reasonably useful for the Exploitation of such Licensed Compound or Licensed Product, including, without limitation, any enhancement in the efficiency, operation, manufacture, cost of manufacture, ingredients, preparation, presentation, formulation, mean of delivery or dosage, use, or methods of use or packaging of such Licensed Compound or Licensed Product, any discovery or Development of any new or expanded indications for such Licensed Compound or Licensed Product, and/or any discovery or Development that improves the stability, safety or efficacy of such Licensed Compound or Licensed Product. For the avoidance of doubt, the term "Improvements" shall also include any writing, invention, discovery, development, modification, technology or know-how with respect to the Licensed Compound and/or any Licensed Product that (x) are reduced to practice, discovered, Developed or otherwise created at any time by Licensor outside of any activities contemplated by this Agreement as long as (y) satisfy the definition as provided herein.
- 1.29. **"Knowledge**", with respect to any representation or warranty or other statement in this Agreement qualified by knowledge of a Party, [***].
- 1.30. **"Licensed Compound"** shall mean CBP-201 with the chemical structure as set forth in Exhibit A and [***]
- 1.31. **"Licensed Know-How"** shall mean all know-how, including scientific, technical, regulatory, commercial, or other information, results, or data, related to the Licensed Compound and/or any Licensed Product, owned or Controlled by Licensor or its Affiliates as of the Effective Date, or becomes owned or Controlled by Licensor or its Affiliates (including jointly with Licensee or its Affiliates) during the Term, that is necessary or reasonably useful for Licensee to Develop, Manufacture, and Commercialize the Licensed Compound and/or any Licensed Product, solely in the Field, in each case within the Territory, including the know-how set forth in Exhibit B,

which if needed will be updated annually by Licensor (excluding any such know-how already known to or co-owned by Licensee). For clarity, with respect to jointly owned know-how, the term "Licensed Know-How" shall only apply to Licensor's title, right, or interest and shall exclude the Licensee's (or its Affiliates') title, right, or interest in or to such Jointly owned know-how.

- 1.32. "Licensed Patents" shall mean all patent rights, including rights to patents, patent applications, divisions, continuations, or continuations-in-part, and if any, reissues, reexams, extensions, renewals or restorations of any of the foregoing by existing or future extension, renewal or restoration mechanisms, including supplementary protection certificate, patent term adjustment, patent term extensions or the equivalent thereof etc., owned or Controlled by Licensor or its Affiliates as of the Effective Date, or becomes owned or Controlled by Licensor or its Affiliates (including jointly with Licensee or its Affiliates) during the Term, that (a) contain one or more claims that cover any Licensed Know-How (including any Licensed Know-How related to formulation, composition, manufacture and/or use of the Licensed Compound and/or any Licensed Product with or without device) and/or (b) are necessary or reasonably useful for Licensee to Develop, Manufacture, and Commercialize the Licensed Compound and/or any Licensed Product, solely in the Field, in each case within the Territory, including the patents set forth in Exhibit B, which will be updated annually by Licensor (excluding any such patent rights already known to or co-owned by Licensee). For clarity, with respect to a Jointly owned patent or patent application, the term "Licensed Patent" shall only apply to Licensor's title, right, or interest and shall exclude the Licensee's (or its Affiliates') title, right, or interest in or to such Jointly owned patent or patent application.
- 1.33. **"Licensed Product"** shall mean one or more pharmaceutical products containing a Licensed Compound as the sole active ingredient or in combination with one or more other active ingredients, each in any formulation, dosage form, or mode of administration.
- 1.34. **"Licensed Product Trademarks"** shall mean the Trademark(s) used or anticipated to be used by a Party or its Affiliates or Permitted Sublicensees (in the case of Licensee) for the Exploitation of the Licensed Compound or a Licensed Product in such Party's Applicable Territory, and any registrations thereof or any pending applications relating thereto.
- 1.35. **"Licensed Technology"** shall mean the Licensed Patents and the Licensed Know-How.
- 1.36. **"Manufacture"** or **"Manufacturing"** shall mean to conduct or have conducted any activities directed to producing, making, scaling up, processing, filling, finishing, packaging, labeling, quality assurance testing and release, post-marketing validation testing, shipping, and storage at manufacturing facilities of any pharmaceutical or biological compound or product, or any component thereof (including production of drug substance and drug product, in bulk form, whether for Development or Commercialization).
- 1.37. **"Net Sales"** shall mean with respect to any Licensed Product during any period, the tax excluded gross amount billed by Licensee, its Affiliates, and/or their Permitted Sublicensees for sale (excluding sales for use in Clinical Trials or other scientific testing

or any compassionate use programs or any donations) of such Licensed Product to independent or unaffiliated Third Parties during such period, less the following deductions, to the extent actually incurred, allowed or paid with respect to such sale by the Licensee, its Affiliates, and/or their Permitted Sublicensees, in each case, calculated in compliance with the applicable Accounting Standards on a consistent basis:

- 1.37.1. [***]
- 1.37.2. [***]
- 1.37.3. [***]
- 1.37.4. [***] and
- 1.37.5. [***].

[***]

- 1.38. **"NMPA"** shall mean the National Medical Products Administration in China, including its internal institutions such as the Center for Drug Evaluation (CDE), or any successor agency with a similar scope of responsibility regarding the regulation of human pharmaceutical and biological products in China.
- 1.39. **"NRDL"** shall mean the National Reimbursement Drug List in China.
- 1.40. **"New Cell Line**" shall mean the cell line as set forth in Exhibit G.
- 1.41. **"Official**" shall mean any official, employee, or representative of, or any other person acting in an official capacity for or on behalf of, any (i) national, federal, state, provincial, or local government, including any entity owned or controlled thereby, (ii) political party, party official, or political candidate, or (iii) public international organization.
- 1.42. **"Patent**" shall mean any patent right, including any patent, patent application, division, continuations, or continuations-in-part, and if any, reissue, reexam, extension, renewal or restoration of any of the foregoing by existing or future extension, renewal or restoration mechanisms, including supplementary protection certificate, patent term adjustment, patent term extensions or the equivalent thereof etc.
- 1.43. **"Person"** shall mean any individual, partnership, limited partnership, limited liability partnership, corporation, limited liability company, business trust, joint stock company, trust, incorporated association, joint venture, unincorporated organization or association, or governmental authority.
- 1.44. **"Mainland China**" shall mean the People's Republic of China (for the purpose of this Agreement, excluding Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan).
- 1.45. **"Product Data"** shall mean any and all data relating to or arising out of the Development, Improvement or Manufacture of the Licensed Compound or any Licensed Product that is necessary or reasonably useful for the Exploitation of the Licensed Compound or any Licensed Product in the Field, including data collected or

resulting from pre-clinical studies or clinical trials, CMC data, other non-clinical data, other clinical data, other Developmental data, other manufacturing records and information, and supporting documentation (e.g., protocols, format of case report forms, analysis plans) relating to pre-clinical studies, clinical trials or other Developmental, or Manufacturing activities with respect to the Licensed Compound or any Licensed Product.

- 1.46. **"Region"** shall mean each of the Mainland China, the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (Hong Kong), the Macau Special Administrative Region (Macau), and Taiwan.
- 1.47. **"Regulatory Approvals"** shall mean all approvals, licenses, or permits necessary for the Development, Manufacture, and Commercialization of any Licensed Product in the applicable country or jurisdiction, which may include satisfaction of all applicable regulatory and notification requirements.
- 1.48. **"Regulatory Authority"** shall mean any national, regional, state or local regulatory agency, department, bureau, commission, council or other governmental entity whose review, approval or authorization is necessary for the Development, Manufacture, and/or Commercialization of a Licensed Product.
- 1.49. **"Regulatory Documents"** shall mean any filing, application or submission with any Regulatory Authority, together with authorizations, approvals or clearances arising from the foregoing, including clinical trial applications, BLAs and Regulatory Approvals or their equivalents in any jurisdiction, and all written notification, written correspondence or written communication with or from the relevant Regulatory Authority, as well as minutes of any material meetings, telephone conferences or discussions with the relevant Regulatory Authority, in each case, with respect to the Licensed Compound or any Licensed Product.
- 1.50. **"Royalty Term"** shall mean the period commencing on the date of First Commercial Sale of a Licensed Product in the Territory and continue until the later of (a) twelve (12) years following the First Commercial Sale of such Licensed Product in the Territory, (b) the expiration of the last-to-expire Valid Claim of the Licensed Patents that have been granted or are pending as of the Effective Date, or (c) the expiration of the last-to-expire regulatory exclusivity for such Licensed Product in the Territory (for clarity, such regulatory exclusivity shall not be considered for the Royalty Term as long as any Biosimilar is launched in the Territory).
- 1.51. **"Subcontractor"** shall mean each of the contract research organizations (CROs), contract manufacturing organizations (CMOs), distributors or other Third Parties that either Party or any of its Affiliates or Permitted Sublicensees engages to perform activities related to the Development, Commercialization and Manufacture of the Licensed Compound or any Licensed Product.
- 1.52. **"Territory"** shall mean all of the Regions (as defined above).
- 1.53. **"Third Party**" shall mean any Person other than Licensor or Licensee, or an Affiliate of Licensor or Licensee.
- 1.54. **"Valid Claim"** shall mean [***] an unexpired claim of an issued patent within the Licensed Patents which has not been found to be unpatentable, invalid or unenforceable

by a court or other authority in the applicable country or jurisdiction, from which decision no appeal is taken or can be taken; [***]

2. LICENSE

- 2.1. License Grant. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement, Licensor hereby grants to Licensee, during the Term of this Agreement, an exclusive (subject to this Section 2.1 and Section 13.1), royalty-bearing, non-transferable (except in accordance with Section 16.6), sub-licensable (subject to Section 2.2 and through multiple tiers) license under the Licensed Technology to Develop, have Developed, Manufacture, have Manufactured, Commercialize, have Commercialized, otherwise Exploit, and otherwise have Exploited the Licensed Compound and/or any Licensed Product in the Field in the Territory (the "License"). For the avoidance of doubt, the License granted to Licensee under this Agreement shall not refrain Licensor (including through Affiliates, Subcontractors, or other Third Parties) from conducting and completing Development and Manufacture activities for the Licensed Compound or any Licensed Product in the Territory (i) solely to fulfill Licensor's obligations under this Agreement, including, without limitation, with respect to (x) completing the ongoing CBP-201 China pivotal clinical trial in Atopic Dermatitis (AD) in the Territory (https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT05017480) (the "Pivotal Trial"), (y) completing clinical trials for CBP-201-CN003 (NMPA Clinical Trial Registration No. CTR20231224) and CBP-201-CN004 (NMPA Clinical Trial Registration No. CTR20231708), and (z) conducting and completing any other activities assigned to Licensor as provided in the Technology Transfer Plan, the Development Plan, and the Commercialization Plan, each of which (x), (y), and (z) shall be conducted and completed in accordance with this Agreement, or (ii) to support Development, Manufacture, and/or Commercialization of the Licensed Compound or any Licensed Product outside the Territory, including, without limitation, with respect to seeking any Regulatory Approvals of such Licensed Compound or Licensed Product outside the Territory, which, for clarification, the License granted to Licensee under this Agreement shall exclude Licensor from Commercializing or having Commercialized the Licensed Compound and/or any Licensed Product in the Field in the Territory.
- 2.2. **Sublicensing**. The License is sub-licensable; provided that Licensee shall not grant any sublicense to any Third Party under the License or otherwise transfer any rights under this Agreement (in each case, "**Sublicensing**") without Licensor's prior written consent. Any such permitted sublicense shall be in writing (any sublicensee of such permitted sublicense, a "**Permitted Sublicensee**") and shall not permit further sublicensing without Licensor's prior written consent. If the License is sublicensed to an Affiliate of Licensee, Licensee may grant sublicenses to such Affiliate without Licensor's prior written consent, provided that Licensee shall provide a written notice thereof to Licensor. Licensee shall remain directly responsible to Licensor for all of Licensee's obligations under this Agreement. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, any such transaction involving Sublicensing (i) shall not conflict with any terms and conditions of this Agreement, (ii) shall not adversely affect and be subject to Licensor's rights under this Agreement, and (iii) shall not relieve Licensee from any of its obligations hereunder, including without limitation, any payment obligations under Article 7.
- 2.3. **Performance by Affiliates and Subcontractors.** Licensee may perform some but not all of its obligations under this Agreement through its Affiliates and Subcontractors; provided, however, that (i) Licensee shall promptly notify Licensor in writing of any contract research organizations (CROs) or contract manufacturing organizations

(CMOs) that become Subcontractors and cause its Affiliates and Subcontractors to comply with the terms and conditions of this Agreement for such performance and (ii) Licensee shall remain directly responsible to Licensor for all such obligations performed through its Affiliates and Subcontractors. Licensee shall ensure that any agreements with its Subcontractors regarding the performance of any obligations hereunder do not conflict with this Agreement. Subcontractors shall not be deemed Permitted Sublicensees for purposes of this Agreement notwithstanding such Subcontractor being granted a limited, non-exclusive license solely to perform services on Licensee, its Affiliates' or Permitted Sublicensees' behalf.

- 2.4. **Technology Transfer.** Subject to the compliance with Applicable Laws and to the extent not already provided, Licensor shall promptly use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to transfer to Licensee all Licensed Know-How pursuant to the Technology Transfer Plan as set forth in Exhibit E (the "**Technology Transfer Plan**") to the extent such transfer is necessary or reasonably useful for Licensee (a) to exercise its rights under the licenses granted in this Agreement or (b) to undertake activities assigned to it under the Development Plan or Commercialization Plan in this Agreement.
 - 2.4.1. **Delivery of Drug Substance and Drug Product**. Within [***] after the Effective Date, Licensor shall deliver to Licensee [***] of the drug substance and [***] of the drug product for testing purposes.
 - 2.4.2. **Fees.** Licensor shall provide free of charge assistance to Licensee for the activities specified in this Section 2.4; and any assistance exceeding what is specified in this Section 2.4 shall be charged to Licensee at Licensor' FTE Rates as defined herein. Licensee shall reimburse Licensor and its Affiliates for the out-of-pocket costs and expenses (including, without limitation, those charged by CMOs and other Subcontractors to support any technical assistance requested pursuant to this Section 2.4), provided that any such out-of-pocket costs or expenses shall be specifically pre-approved by Licensee.
- 2.5. **No Implied Licenses.** Except as explicitly set forth in this Agreement, Licensor shall not be deemed to grant to Licensee any license or other rights under any intellectual property rights (whether by implication, estoppel or otherwise).
- 2.6. **Diligence.** Licensee shall use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to apply for Regulatory Approvals for the Licensed Compound and/or a Licensed Product, as applicable, in the Field in the Territory and to conduct clinical trials, other Development work, and Manufacture and Commercialization activities. Without limiting the foregoing, Licensee shall use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to proceed in accordance with the Development Plan and the Commercialization Plan (each, as defined below), including, without limitation, to use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to allocate sufficient time, effort, equipment and facilities, and sufficient personnel with required skills and experience, to conduct such clinical trials, other Development work, and Manufacture and Commercialization activities, and to explore new indications as mutually agreed upon by the Parties. For any other indication in the Field, Licensee shall use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to develop a Development Plan and conduct Development work in accordance with such Development Plan. [***] and (b) [***]

2.7. No Competitive Products. During the Term, without either Party's prior written consent, the other Party or its Affiliates or Permitted Sublicensee shall not engage, alone or in conjunction with any Third Party, in the Development or Commercialization of a Competitive Product in the Territory. For the avoidance of doubt, subject to the conditions and terms of the Agreement, either Party (including through Affiliates, subcontractors, or other Third Parties) has the right to conduct and complete development and manufacture activities for a Competitive Product in the Territory to support development and manufacture, including regulatory approvals, of such Competitive Product outside the Territory. "Competitive Product" shall mean [***] For the avoidance of doubt, notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, this Agreement does not convey to Licensee or its Affiliates and Permitted Sublicensee shall not use, any Licensed Technology or any other intellectual property of Licensor in connection with any Competitive Product.

3. GOVERNANCE

- 3.1. Joint Steering Committee
 - 3.1.1. **Establishment and Responsibilities.** Promptly following the Effective Date, but in no event later than [***] after the Effective Date, the Parties will form a joint steering committee (the "**JSC**") to provide oversight and to facilitate information sharing between the Parties with respect to the activities of the Parties under this Agreement. In addition to its overall responsibility to provide oversight and to facilitate information sharing between the Parties with respect to the activities of the Parties of the Parties of the Parties of the Parties under this Agreement, he JSC will:
 - 3.1.1.1. coordinate and share information with respect to the Development, Manufacturing and Commercialization of the Licensed Compound or any Licensed Product (x) in the Territory by Licensee, its Affiliates or Permitted Sublicensees, or their Subcontractors and (y) in and outside the Territory by Licensor, its Affiliates, licensees (including sublicensees), or Subcontractors;
 - 3.1.1.2. coordinate and oversee activities relating to conducting clinical trials and seeking Regulatory Approvals for the Licensed Compound or any Licensed Product, including, for instance, but not limited to (i) reviewing the Development Plan and any amendments thereto, (ii) reviewing and discussing any matters related to obtaining and maintaining the Regulatory Approvals for the Licensed Compound or any Licensed Product in the Field, (iii) coordinate and share information with respect to the Development activities, and all necessarily filing and registration activities for the Regulatory Approvals of the Licensed Compound or any Licensed Product;
 - 3.1.1.3. attempt to resolve in the first instance all matters between the Parties that are in dispute; and
 - 3.1.1.4. have such other responsibilities as may be assigned to the JSC pursuant to this Agreement or as may be mutually agreed upon by the Parties from time to time.
 - 3.1.2. **Membership.** The JSC will consist of an equal number of representatives for each Party, with up to [***] representatives appointed by each Party. A Party may change any of its representatives on the JSC at any time with a new person (with appropriate expertise to replace the outgoing member) by giving written notice to the other Party; provided, however, that, without limiting the generality of the foregoing, a key objective with respect to membership in the JSC will be preserving continuity. The JSC shall be co-chaired by one designated representative of each Party. The co-chairpersons shall be responsible for calling meetings, preparing and issuing minutes of each such meeting [***] thereafter, and preparing and circulating an agenda for the upcoming meeting; provided that the co-chairpersons shall consider including any agenda items proposed by either Party no less than [***] prior to the JSC meeting, for which the agenda is prepared

and circulated. One member of the JSC shall serve as secretary of the JSC at each JSC meeting, and the secretary shall alternate from meeting to meeting between a Licensee JSC member and a Licensor JSC member.

- 3.1.3. **Meetings.** The JSC shall hold at least [***] per [***]; provided, that the JSC shall meet more or less frequently as Licensee and Licensor mutually agree. Meetings of the JSC shall be effective only if at least one (1) representative of each Party is present or participating. The JSC may meet either in person at such locations as the Parties may agree or by audio or video teleconference. Other representatives of each Party involved with the Licensed Compound or Licensed Product may attend meetings as non-voting participants, subject to the confidentiality provisions set forth in Article 10. Additional meetings of the JSC may also be held with the consent of each Party, including to resolve disputes, disagreements or deadlocks in any Subcommittees or as otherwise required under this Agreement, and neither Party shall unreasonably withhold its consent to hold such additional meetings.
- 3.1.4. **Decision-Making.** The JSC may make decisions with respect to any subject matter that is subject to its authority and functions as set forth in Section 3.1. [***] If the JSC cannot reach consensus on a given matter within [***] after such matter is brought to the JSC for resolution, such disagreement shall be referred to senior executives of the Parties for resolution. If the senior executives do not resolve such matter within [***] days after such matter has been referred to them, then Licensee shall have the final decision making authority with respect to the Development, Manufacture and Commercialization of the Licensed Compound or any Licensed Product in the Territory; provided that [***]
- 3.2. **Subcommittees.** From time to time, the JSC may establish and delegate particular responsibilities to subcommittees (each, a "**Subcommittee**"). Each Subcommittee will be constituted and operate as the Parties reasonably and mutually determine in writing (including by e-mail); provided that each Subcommittee shall have equal representation from each Party.
- 3.3. Limitation of Authority. The JSC and any Subcommittee each shall only have the authority assigned expressly to it in this Agreement, and shall not have any power to amend, modify or waive compliance with this Agreement or create obligations on the Parties additional to the obligations expressly contemplated in this Agreement. Each Party shall retain the rights, powers and discretion granted to it under this Agreement and no such rights, powers or discretion shall be delegated or vested in the JSC and any Subcommittee unless such delegation or vesting is expressly provided for in this Agreement or the Parties expressly so agree in writing.
- 3.4. **Information Sharing.** Each Party shall keep the JSC reasonably informed as to the progress and activities in material aspects relating to the Development, Manufacturing and Commercialization of the Licensed Compound and/or any Licensed Product in such each Party's Applicable Territory, and shall keep the JSC fully and promptly informed with respect to regulatory matters and meetings with the Regulatory Authorities in such each Party's Applicable Territory, by way of written updates to the JSC or applicable Subcommittee in writing. In connection therewith, each Party shall use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to provide the other Party with such information regarding such progress and activities under the Development Plan, the Commercialization Plan, or

otherwise relating to the Licensed Compound and/or any Licensed Product upon the other Party's reasonable request (e.g., in reasonable frequency, reasonable format, reasonable quantity, and other reasonable conditions) in writing. For the avoidance of doubt, the progress and activities as provided in this Section 3.4 shall include, without limitation, those arising from or relating to [***]

- 3.5. **Minutes of Committee Meetings.** Definitive minutes of all meetings of the JSC or any Subcommittee shall be finalized no later than [***] after each meeting. The minutes shall be approved by each Party not later than the first order of business at the immediately succeeding meeting of JSC or any Subcommittee.
- 3.6. **Expenses.** Each Party shall be responsible for all of its own expenses incurred in connection with participating in the JSC meetings or any of the Subcommittee meetings.
- 3.7. **Alliance Managers.** Promptly following the Effective Date, each Party shall appoint and notify the other Party of the identity thereof in writing (including by e-mail), one (1) senior representative to act as its alliance manager under this Agreement (each, an "**Alliance Manager**"). The Alliance Managers shall serve as the contact point between the Parties and will be primarily responsible for facilitating the flow of information and otherwise promoting communication, coordination and collaboration between the Parties.

4. DEVELOPMENT AND REGULATORY MATTERS

4.1. Development Obligations

- As between the Parties, (i) Licensee shall be the marketing authorization 4.1.1. holder (MAH) of any Licensed Product in the Field in the Territory; (ii) Licensee shall be the applicant, or entitled, at its sole discretion, to designate and modify the designation of applicants, for any clinical trials for the Licensed Compound and any Licensed Product in the Field in the Territory; (iii) Licensee shall, subject to the terms and conditions in this Section 4.1, be responsible for applying or procuring the application for any and all Regulatory Approvals of the Licensed Compound and any Licensed Product for any indications in the Field in the Territory, including, without limitation, any application to the NMPA for the BLA approval; (iv) upon Licensee's request in writing, Licensor shall transfer or procure the transfer of any clinical trials to Licensee or its designate (including, without limitation, the applicants thereof); and (v) Licensor will be responsible for, [***], continuing and completing (x) the ongoing Pivotal Trial and (y) clinical trials for CBP-201-CN003 and CBP-201-CN004 with Licensee providing any reasonable assistance [***] In addition to the trials or studies required for the BLA approval for the Licensed Product in the treatment of Atopic Dermatitis (AD) prior to the launch of the Licensed Product in the Territory and subject to the terms and conditions herein, Licensee shall, at its own costs and expenses, be solely responsible for any trial or study conducted in the Territory. Licensee shall register, or will cause the sponsor of any studies and clinical trials involving the Licensed Product to register (if Licensee is not the sponsor) such studies and clinical trials on, and report the results of such studies and clinical trials to, the appropriate registry or database as required by the Applicable Laws. For clarity, except as set forth in this Agreement, Licensee shall be solely responsible for any costs and expenses related to its pursuing any activities with respect to the Licensed Compound and any Licensed Product in the Field in the Territory.
- 4.1.2. Each Party shall use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to Develop the Licensed Compound and any Licensed Product in the Field in the Territory pursuant to a development plan that will include a description of the Development activities to be performed in support of obtaining the Regulatory Approvals for the Licensed Product in the Field in the Territory, including study and clinical trial designs, and projected resources and timelines for the completion of such activities, as well as Licensor's Development activities, projected resources, and timelines for the completion of such activities in (a) conducting the Pivotal Trial, (b) conducting clinical trials for CBP-201-CN003 (NMPA Clinical Trial Registration No. CTR20231224) and CBP-201-CN004 (NMPA Clinical Trial Registration No. CTR20231708), and (c) supporting Licensee for the completion of any activities (including without limitation providing any documentations, data, results, reports, or other information as requested by any Regulatory Authority in the Territory) (as such development plan may be amended, the "Development Plan"). Exhibit C contains a highlevel initial Development Plan and shall constitute the basis of the Development Plan, which Licensee shall create and submit to the JSC for review and discussion. The Development Plan may be amended from time to time by Licensee in good faith and consistent with the amendment for its internally developed products of a similar nature; provided that such amendment shall be

timely reported to the JSC and/or Subcommittee for review, as appropriate, whereby Licensee shall consider Licensor's reasonable comments. The Development Plan, as amended, shall include reasonably detailed information.

- 4.1.3. Each Party, its Affiliates and Permitted Sublicensees, and their Subcontractors, shall perform Development obligations under this Agreement (including, without limitation, the Development Plan) in a good scientific manner and in compliance with all Applicable Laws, GLP, GMP, and GCP, including with respect to each such activity that will or would reasonably be expected to be reviewed by the NMPA in support of any regulatory filing or application for any Regulatory Approval. For clarity, Licensor shall provide any documentation, data, result and other information, make available any relevant personnel, and provide any other assistance in the event that a Regulatory Authority in the Territory so request in its reviewing any Regulatory Approval for the Licensed Compound and/or any Licensed Product.
- 4.1.4. Each Party shall maintain complete and accurate records of all work conducted by or on behalf of such Party or its Affiliates or Permitted Sublicensees in accordance with the Development Plan and/or in furtherance of the Development of the Licensed Product in the Territory and all material results, data and Developments made in conducting such activities. Such records shall be maintained in sufficient detail and in good scientific manner appropriate for patent and regulatory purposes and in accordance with the Applicable Laws.
- 4.2. **Development Reports.** Within [***] following the end of each Calendar Year in which activities described in the Development Plan are ongoing, the Parties shall exchange reports in reasonable detail of the progress and updates with respect to the Development Plan, and the status and results of the studies, clinical trials, and other Development work with respect to the Licensed Compound and Licensed Product. With respect to any report prepared by any Party, the other Party shall have the opportunity to discuss each such report and its contents with such any Party, either through the JSC or in any other manner reasonably acceptable to the other Party, and such any Party shall use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to provide additional documentation or information pertinent to activities described in the Development Plan as requested by the other Party.
- 4.3. **Regulatory Activities.** Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Parties, Licensee shall be solely responsible for all regulatory activities, at its costs and expenses, for the Licensed Compound and any Licensed Product in the Field in the Territory, both before and after obtaining the first Regulatory Approvals for such Licensed Product in the Field in the Territory, and Licensor shall provide Licensee, as a part of technology transfer, with any documentations, data, results, or other information if such documentations, data, results, or other reasonable assistance upon Licensee's request in writing.
 - 4.3.1. **Regulatory Filings; Ownership; Communications.** Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Parties, Licensee shall apply for, update and maintain, at its own costs and expenses, all Regulatory Documents relating to the Licensed Compound and the Licensed Product in the Field in the Territory. All Regulatory Documents relating to the Licensed Compound and the Licensed Compound and the Licensed Product in the Field in the Territory.

Territory shall be owned by Licensee or its Affiliate, except for any Regulatory Documents that are required under the Applicable Laws to be filed in Licensor's name. Except for the Regulatory Documents for the Pivotal Trial, Licensee shall be responsible, at its own costs and expenses, for all communications and interactions with any Regulatory Authority with respect to the Licensed Compound and the Licensed Product in the Field in the Territory, both prior to and subsequent to receipt of any Regulatory Approvals. For the avoidance of doubt, Licensee shall have the sole decision authority on all regulatory matters for the Licensed Compound and any Licensed Product in the Territory. Each Party shall keep the other Party abreast of any material communication received from or submitted to Regulatory Authorities in such each Party's Applicable Territory. To the extent Licensor receives any written or oral communications from any Regulatory Authority in or outside the Territory, Licensor shall timely notify Licensee of such communication.

- 4.4. Right of Reference and Use.
 - 4.4.1. Licensee hereby grants to Licensor a right of reference during the Term to all Regulatory Documents pertaining to the Licensed Compound and any Licensed Product submitted to the Regulatory Authorities in the Territory by or on behalf of Licensee, its Affiliates or Permitted Sublicensees and any Product Data made available to Licensor by Licensee pursuant to Section 4.5, for the purpose of seeking, obtaining and maintaining the Regulatory Approvals of any Licensed Product outside the Territory. If requested by Licensee shall, and shall cause its Affiliates or Permitted Sublicensees, to provide a signed statement to this effect in accordance with the Applicable Laws.
 - 4.4.2. Licensor hereby grants to Licensee a right of reference during the Term to all Regulatory Documents pertaining to the Licensed Compound and Licensed Product in the Field submitted to the Regulatory Authorities outside the Territory by or on behalf of Licensor or its Affiliates and any Product Data made available to Licensee by Licensor pursuant to Section 4.5, for the purpose of seeking, obtaining and maintaining the Regulatory Approvals of the Licensed Product in the Field in the Territory. If requested by Licensee, Licensor will, or will cause its Affiliates to, provide a signed statement to this effect in accordance with the Applicable Laws.
- 4.5. Data Exchange and Use.
 - 4.5.1. Upon Licensor's reasonable written request, Licensee shall use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to promptly provide Licensor with, to the extent permitted by the Applicable Laws, reasonable access to all Product Data and results, generated or obtained by or on behalf of and Controlled by Licensee or its Affiliates or their Permitted Sublicensees in the course of performance of the studies, clinical trials or other Development work hereunder. To the extent permitted by the Applicable Laws, Licensor shall have the right to use all such Product Data to Exploit the Licensed Compound and any Licensed Product in its Applicable Territory. Licensee shall use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to apply for any approvals, filings or licenses in its Applicable Territory as required by the Applicable Laws in order to allow Licensor to legally access and use the Product Data, and if such
 - 20

approvals, filings or licenses require Licensor's assistance, Licensor will provide such assistance.

- 4.5.2. Upon Licensee's reasonable written request, Licensor will use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to promptly provide Licensee with, to the extent permitted by the Applicable Laws, reasonable access to all Product Data and results generated or obtained by or on behalf of Licensor or its Affiliates in existence as of the Effective Date or in the course of performance of the studies, clinical trials or other Development work. To the extent permitted by the Applicable Laws, including without limitation, the Applicable Laws in Licensor's Applicable Territory, Licensee shall have the right to use all such Product Data and results to seek the Regulatory Approval, Commercialization, or other Exploitation of the Licensed Compound and any Licensed Product in the Field in the Territory.
- 4.6. Adverse Events Reporting. Licensee, its Affiliates and Permitted Sublicensees shall be solely responsible for collecting, investigating, and reporting any adverse events or any other safety issue of any significance and product quality and product complaints involving adverse events, in each case with respect to the Licensed Compound and any Licensed Product in the Territory. Licensor or its Affiliates or their licensees shall be solely responsible for collecting, investigating, and reporting any adverse events or any other safety issue of any significance and product quality and product complaints involving adverse events, in each case with respect to the Licensed Compound and any Licensed Product outside the Territory. At a Party's request, the other Party shall promptly provide any of the above information to such other Party in writing and reasonably assist such other Party in completing any reporting obligations with respect to the Licensed Compound and Licensed Product pursuant to the Applicable Laws in the other Party's Applicable Territory. Following the Effective Date, the Parties shall negotiate in good faith and enter into a separate pharmacovigilance agreement to further define the Parties' responsibilities in data exchange, adverse event reporting and other pharmacovigilance matters in connection with the Licensed Compound and Licensed Product. The Party primarily responsible for causing such adverse event, other safety issue, product quality, or product complaints, to the extent assessable, shall bear the cost and expenses of the investigation, reporting, or other handling of the Licensed Compound or Licensed Product and if the causation of such adverse event, other safety issue, product quality, or product complaints cannot be reasonably assessed, each Party shall be responsible for costs and expenses in such each Party's Applicable Territory.
- 4.7. **Recall of Licensed Product**. In the event that any Regulatory Authority in the Territory issues or requests a recall or takes similar action in connection with the Licensed Compound or any Licensed Product or in the event Licensee determines that an event, incident or circumstance has occurred that may result in the need for a recall or market withdrawal in the Territory, Licensee shall use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to, within [***] inform Licensor by telephone (and confirm by email) or email. Following any such notification in respect of the Territory, Licensee shall decide whether to conduct a recall (except in the case of a government-mandated recall) and the manner in which any such recall shall be conducted. In the event that any Regulatory Authority outside the Territory issues or requests a recall or takes similar action in connection with the Licensed Compound or Licensed Product or in the event Licensor determines that an event, incident or circumstance has occurred that may result in the need for a recall or market withdrawal outside the Territory, Licensor shall use Commercially

Reasonable Efforts to, within [***] inform Licensee by telephone (and confirm by email or facsimile), email or facsimile. Following any such notification in respect of outside the Territory, Licensor shall decide whether to conduct a recall (except in the case of a government-mandated recall) and the manner in which any such recall shall be conducted. The Party primarily responsible for causing a recall shall bear the expenses of that recall of the Licensed Compound or the Licensed Product.

- 4.8. **No Harmful Actions.** Each Party, its Affiliates and Permitted Sublicensees, and their Subcontractors shall not to take any action with respect to the Licensed Compound or any Licensed Product in the Field that could be expected to have an adverse impact upon the other Party's Regulatory Approval status of the Licensed Compound or any Licensed Product in such other Party's Applicable Territory. In the event a Party becomes aware of any of the aforementioned action conducted by such Party or any Affiliates, Permitted Sublicenses or Subcontractors, such Party shall promptly notify the other Party. Each Party shall cease and desist such action, and cause the Affiliate, Permitted Sublicensee or Subcontractor to cease and desist such action.
- 4.9. **Cooperation.** Subject to the terms and conditions in this Agreement, each Party will provide such technical assistance and cooperation to as the other Party may reasonably request, at the requesting Party's reasonable costs and expenses, as necessary or reasonably useful to Develop, Manufacture or obtain Regulatory Approvals of the Licensed Compound or any Licensed Product in the requesting Party's Applicable Territory.

5. COMMERCIALIZATION

- 5.1. **Commercialization Obligations.** Upon the receipt of the Regulatory Approvals for any Licensed Product in the Field in the Territory, Licensee (directly, or through its Affiliates and Permitted Sublicensees) shall use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to Commercialize the Licensed Product in the Field in the Territory. Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Parties, Licensee shall be solely responsible for Commercializing the Licensed Product in the Field in the Territory at its own costs and expenses. Licensee and its Affiliates and Permitted Sublicensees shall perform Commercialization obligations under this Agreement in compliance with all Applicable Laws.
- 5.2. Commercialization Reports
 - 5.2.1. Promptly after obtaining applicable Regulatory Approvals for Commercialization of a Licensed Product in the Territory, Licensee shall submit to the JSC a commercial launch plan for the Licensed Product (the "**Commercialization Plan**"). Exhibit D contains a high-level initial Commercialization Plan and shall constitute the basis of the Commercialization Plan, which Licensee shall create and submit to the JSC for review and discussion. The Commercialization Plan may be amended from time to time by Licensee in good faith and consistent with the amendment for its internally developed products of a similar nature; provided that such amendment shall be timely reported to the JSC and/or Subcommittee for review, as appropriate, whereby Licensee shall consider Licensor's reasonable comments. The Commercialization Plan, as amended, shall include reasonably detailed information.
 - 5.2.2. [***] Licensee shall submit to the JSC a report summarizing in reasonable detail its activities (including without limitation activities by Affiliates, Permitted Sublicensees and Subcontractors) relating to the Commercialization of the Licensed Product during the preceding Calendar Year. Licensor shall have the opportunity to discuss each such report and its contents with Licensee, either through the JSC or in any other manner reasonably acceptable to Licensee. Licensee shall provide to Licensor any additional documentation or information as reasonably requested by Licensor relating to such reports.
- 5.3. Licensed Product Trademarks
 - 5.3.1. Each Party shall be solely responsible for developing, selecting, searching, registering and maintaining, and shall be the exclusive owner of, all Licensed Product Trademarks in such Party's Applicable Territory.
 - 5.3.2. Each Party shall not, and shall ensure Affiliates, Permitted Sublicensees and Subcontractors not to, register or use any trademark that is identical or confusingly similar to any Licensed Product Trademarks of the other Party or any of its Affiliates.
 - 5.3.3. Licensee shall mark any Licensed Product sold in the Territory in accordance with the Applicable Laws, including without limitation, applicable patent marking

laws, and shall cause Affiliates, Permitted Sublicensees and Subcontractors to do the same.

- 5.4. **Other Trademark Rights.** Neither Party will have any right to use the other Party's or its Affiliates' Trademarks, corporate names or logos in connection with Commercialization of the Licensed Product, without first obtaining the other Party's written consent. Licensor's corporate name and logo, as designated by Licensor in writing, shall be labeled on the packaging of all Licensed Products on sale in the Territory, provided that Licensee shall have the final decision authority on the form, size, location, and other relevant attributes of Licensor's corporate name and logo on the packaging after considering Licensor's request in good faith. [***]
- 5.5. **Promotional Materials**. Licensee is responsible for and has the sole decision authority in creating, developing, producing, or otherwise obtaining and utilizing sales and marketing materials (including without limitation updates thereof, together "**Promotional Materials**") related to the Commercialization of any Licensed Product in the Field in the Territory. As requested by Licensor and mutually agreed upon by the Parties in good faith at the JSC, the Licensed Product Trademarks of Licensor or any of its Affiliates shall be applied to Promotional Materials. Licensor's corporate name and logo, as designated by Licensor in writing, shall be displayed in the Promotional Materials, provided that Licensee shall have the final decision authority on the form, size, location, and other relevant attributes of such Licensed Product Trademarks in the Promotional Materials after considering Licensor's request in good faith. [***]
- 5.6. **No Diversion.** Subject to the Applicable Laws, each Party covenants and agrees that it shall not, and shall use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to ensure that its Affiliates and Permitted Sublicensees (with respect to Licensee) or licensees (with respect to Licensor) do not promote, market, distribute, import, sell or have sold any Licensed Product in the Field, including via the Internet or mail order, to any Third Party or to any address or Internet Protocol address or the like, in the other Party's Applicable Territory; provided that, each Party shall have the right to attend conferences and meetings in the other Party's Applicable Territory and to promote and market, for such Party's own Applicable Territory, the Licensed Product to Third Party attendees at such conferences and meetings, subject to this Section 5.6. Neither Party shall engage, or shall permit its Affiliates or Permitted Sublicensees (with respect to Licensee) or licensees (with respect to Licensor) to engage, in any advertising or promotional activities relating to any Licensed Product in the Field for use directed primarily to customers or users of the Licensed Product located in any country, jurisdiction or region in the other Party's Applicable Territory, or solicit orders from any prospective purchaser that such Party has reason to believe intends to distribute such Licensed Product in the Field in any country, jurisdiction or region in the other Party's Applicable Territory.

6. MANUFACTURE AND SUPPLY

- 6.1. After Licensor completes the Technology Transfer Plan pursuant to Section 2.4, Licensee shall, at its own costs and expenses, be solely responsible for Manufacturing and supplying the Licensed Compound and any Licensed Product for Development and Commercialization in the Field in the Territory, use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to perform such Manufacturing and supplying activities, and have the authority to select Third Party Subcontractors. Upon written request from Licensor or on Licensee's own initiative, Licensee shall enter into a Material Purchase Agreement or Supply Agreement or similar agreement with Licensor or Licensor's designated CMO for the purchase of existing inventory of the Licensed Compound and/or any Licensed Product in Licensor's possession [***]
- 6.2. **Self-Manufacturing by Licensee**. Licensee shall, after the completion of the Technology Transfer Plan in accordance with Section 2.4, have the responsibility for Manufacturing and supplying the Licensed Compound and/or Licensed Products for Development and/or Commercialization, as applicable, of Licensed Products in the Territory at Licensee's own costs and expenses.
- 6.3. **Compliance with Laws**. Each Party shall comply, and shall procure that its Third Party Subcontractor(s), if any, will comply with all Applicable Laws with respect to the Manufacturing of the Licensed Compound and/or any Licensed Product(s).

7. PAYMENTS

- 7.1. **Upfront Payment.** Licensee shall pay to Licensor a total upfront payment equal to One Hundred and Fifty Million RMB (¥150,000,000) (tax included) (the "**Upfront Payment**") by wire transfer of immediately available funds into an account designated in writing by Licensor or any of its Affiliates [***]
- 7.2. Milestone Payments.
 - 7.2.1. Licensee shall pay to Licensor the milestone payments described in this Section 7.2.1 following the first occurrence of the corresponding milestone event (each, a "Milestone Payment"). For the purpose of calculating the sales Milestone Payments, Licensee shall calculate and report to Licensor the aggregate Net Sales of any Licensed Product on a [***] basis no later than [***] Licensee shall promptly notify Licensor in writing of, but in no event later than [***] or [***] (each, a "Milestone Notification Notice"). Notwithstanding the foregoing, in no event shall a failure to deliver or promptly deliver a Milestone Notification Notice relieve Licensee of its obligations to pay Licensor the Milestone Payments. Licensee shall pay the applicable Milestone Payment within [***] following the later of (a) (i) [***] and (b) [***] For clarity, to the extent more than one sales milestone is reached in any given Calendar Year, then the applicable Milestone Payment for each such achievement shall be due and owing with respect to such Calendar Year. Each such Milestone Payment is onetime, non-refundable and, non-creditable against any other payments due hereunder.

Milestone Event	Milestone Payment		
A. Development & Regulatory Milestones (Tax Included)			
[***]	[***]		
[***]	[***]		
[***]	[***]		
[***]	[***]		
[***]	[***]		
[***]	[***]		
[***]	[***]		
[***]	[***]		
[***]	[***]		
[***]	[***]		
[***]	[***]		
[***]	[***]		
Total Possible Development and Regulatory Milestone Payments (Including Additional Payment B)	RMB Three Hundred and Twenty Million (¥320,000,000)		



Milestone Event	Milestone Payment
B. Sales Milestones (Tax Included)	
[***]	[***]
[***]	[***]
[***]	[***]
[***]	[***]
Total Possible Sales Milestone Payments	RMB Five Hundred and Fifty-Five Million (¥555,000,000)

- 7.3. Royalty Payments.
 - 7.3.1. With respect to a Licensed Product, Licensee shall pay to Licensor tiered payments (each, a "**Royalty Payment**") on a Licensed Product-by-Licensed Product basis at the following applicable rates based on the aggregate Net Sales of Licensed Product in the Territory for each Calendar Year during the Royalty Term, which, for clarity, the royalty rate shall apply to each applicable Net Sales tier in a Calendar Year and any Licensed Product sold in the Territory after the expiration of the Royalty Term for such Licensed Product shall not be included in the calculation of annual Net Sales to determine the applicable royalty tiers:

Calendar Year Net Sales	Royalty Included)	Rate	(Tax
1. For that portion of aggregate Net Sales of the Licensed Product in the Territory during any Calendar Year that are [***]	[***]		
2. For that portion of aggregate Net Sales of the Licensed Product in the Territory during any Calendar Year that are [***]	[***]		
[***]	[***]		
[***]	[***]		

- 7.3.2. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing and solely as non-limiting examples, [***]
- 7.3.3. Royalty Reduction [***]

7.3.4. Royalty Reduction [***]

7.4. The aggregate Net Sales of any Licensed Product shall be reported to Licensor on a Licensed Product-by-Licensed Product and a Region-by-Region basis by Licensee for each applicable Calendar Semi-annual Period within [***] of the end of the [***]. Such Royalty Payments shall be paid by Licensee within [***] following the later of the end of such [***] and receipt of a corresponding invoice from Licensor. Each such payment shall be accompanied by a report to Licensor in sufficient details, on a Region-by-Region basis, to permit confirmation of the accuracy of the payment made, including, without limitation, the number of the Licensed Product sold during the [***] Within [***] of the end of each Calendar Year, Licensee shall prepare and provide to Licensor a true-up report, reflecting (i) the actual aggregate Net Sales of any Licensed Product sold during the Calendar Year; and (ii) the actual Royalty Payments due to Licensor based on the actual aggregate Net Sales of the Licensed Product sold during such

Calendar year and the applicable royalty rates set forth above. Licensee shall pay such amount to Licensor within [***] of Licensee's receipt of an invoice reflecting the same by Licensor. Any overpayment shall be reimbursed to Licensee by Licensor within [***] of Licensor's receipt of an invoice from Licensee reflecting the same.

- 7.5. **Revenue Sharing**. In the event that Licensee sublicenses to any Permitted Sublicensee pursuant to Section 2.2, in addition to any payments due under Sections 7.1, 7.2 and 7.3, Licensee shall pay Licensor [***] with respect to each of the [***] sublicensed indications of the Licensed Compound or any Licensed Product and [***] with respect to each of the subsequent sublicensed indications of the Licensed Compound or any Licensee payments, and if applicable, other non-royalty payments, received by Licensee from the Permitted Sublicensee (the "Sublicensing Revenue"). [***]
- 7.6. **Tax Withholding.** Licensee shall deduct any tax, levy, impost, duty or other charge or withholding (individually and collectively, "**Tax**," which includes, without limitation, the value added tax and relevant surcharges, tax withholding, consumption tax, and customs duties) that are required by the Applicable Laws to be borne by Licensor, from the payments due to Licensor under this Agreement, provided that Licensee shall use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to minimize any such required Tax. Any such Tax required to be deducted shall promptly be paid by Licensee on behalf of Licensor to the appropriate governmental authority. Licensee shall supply Licensor with sufficient written proof of payment of such Tax paid on Licensor's behalf and shall use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to cooperate with Licensor in obtaining a credit or refund of any such taxes.
- 7.7. **Manner of Payments.** All payments hereunder shall be payable in RMB and paid to Licensor. All payments owed under this Agreement shall be made by Licensee or its Affiliates to Licensor by wire transfer of immediately available funds to a bank and account designated from time to time by Licensor in writing (including by e-mail). Notwithstanding the foregoing, upon request of Licensor in writing (including by e-mail), Licensee or its Affiliates shall make all payments hereunder to Connect HK and Connect SZ by such entity in such proportion and currency as instructed by Licensor, satisfying the same timeline and documentation requirements as set forth in this Article 7. With respect to each payment, Licensor shall be responsible for any cost and expenses incurred by Licensee that are beyond transferring such each payment to one (1) bank account.
- 7.8. **Prohibited Payments.** If Licensee is prevented from paying any payment under this Agreement because of any Applicable Laws, government actions, or other similar reasons, then upon requesting by Licensor in writing, such payment shall be deposited in an interest-bearing account in a bank designated by Licensor in the currency of the applicable jurisdiction to the extent permitted by the Applicable Laws. Upon cessation of such Applicable Laws, government actions, or other similar reasons, Licensee shall use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to arrange to have the payment transferred to Licensor in compliance with the Applicable Laws, and as soon as reasonably practical thereafter, plus actual earnings thereon during the period of deposit.
- 7.9. **Late Payments.** In the event that any payment that is (a) due under this Agreement and (b) not in dispute in good faith between the Parties is not made, the amount overdue will accrue interest at a simple monthly rate of [***], calculated from the due date until

paid in full; provided, however, that in no event will such rate exceed the maximum legally permissible annual interest rate. The payment of such interest will not limit Licensor from exercising any other rights it may have as a consequence of the lateness of any payment.

8. COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS

- 8.1. **Approvals/Filings.** Each Party shall obtain all required approvals, permits, and licenses and/or to effect all required registrations or filings in connection with the Licensed Compound and/or any Licensed Product as related to its obligations under this Agreement, and the Other Party shall provide prompt and reasonable assistance.
- 8.2. No Impairment and Compliance.
 - 8.2.1. Each Party shall not, directly or indirectly, intentionally impair the other Party's rights or reputation.
 - 8.2.2. Licensee shall comply with all Applicable Laws concerning Development, Manufacture or Commercialization of the Licensed Compound and/or any Licensed Product, including, without limitation, providing suitable labels, packaging, and instructions for use of the Licensed Compound and any Licensed Product, pursuant to all requirements of the Regulatory Approvals and Applicable Laws in the Territory with regard to the Licensed Compound and Licensed Product.
- 8.3. **Privacy**. In carrying out this Agreement, each Party shall, and shall cause its Affiliates, Permitted Sublicensees, and Subcontractors to, comply with the Applicable Laws relating to data privacy, data protection, and data security, including, without limitation, the PRC Personal Information Protection Law effective as of November 1, 2021, as they relate to the protection, collection, use, storage, processing or transfer of personal data including personal information of clinical trial participants, important commercial data and human genetic resources materials and information (as such terms are defined under the PRC Human Genetic Resources Administrative Regulations effective as of July 1, 2019), regulations and official guidance promulgated thereunder, published standards of applicable Regulatory Authorities, as well as scientific standards and all applicable rules, regulations, or guidance issued by the Human Genetic Resources Administration of China applicable to the conduct of such activities, if any, as may be amended from time to time.
- 8.4. Compliance Review. If Licensee or any of its Affiliates or Permitted Sublicensees fails to materially comply with any compliance obligation under Section 8.2.2, which is discovered and formally investigated by Licensee or any of its Affiliates or Permitted Sublicensees or results in any fine, penalty, sanction or other action from any Regulatory Authority or any other government agency (each, a "Non-compliance Event"), Licensee shall immediately notify Licensor in writing in sufficient details so that Licensor or its designee is able to evaluate and verify such Non-compliance Event. After receiving such written notification or independently discovering such Non-compliance Event, upon not less than [***]' prior written notice, Licensor shall have the right to conduct an inspection of compliance programs and their implementations related to such Non-compliance Event; provided that such inspection (a) shall not occur more often than [***], unless a Non-compliance Event is discovered as part of such inspection, (b) shall occur at reasonable times, and during normal business hours, and (c) shall be with respect to the scope, method, nature and duration necessary for the purpose of the inspection. Licensee shall use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to cooperate with, and shall cause its Affiliates and Permitted Sublicensees to use

Commercially Reasonable Effort to cooperate with, such inspection. Licensee shall, and shall cause its Affiliates and Permitted Sublicensees to, promptly adopt reasonable remediation measures to regain compliance with Section 8.2.2 and reasonably keep Licensor or its designee informed about the progress of such efforts.

9. INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY

9.1. General

- 9.1.1. **Licensed Technology.** Except as expressly set forth otherwise in this Agreement, Licensor and its Affiliates shall solely own and alone shall have the right to apply for patent protection for the Licensed Technology in and outside the Territory.
- 9.1.2. Improvements. Subject to Section 9.2, all Improvements discovered, developed or created solely by or on behalf of Licensor, its Affiliates, and their respective licensees, and their respective subcontractors (collectively, "Licensor Improvements"), including all intellectual property rights in such Licensor Improvements, shall be owned and vested with Licensor or its designee; all Improvements discovered, developed or created solely by or on behalf of Licensee, its Affiliates, Permitted Sublicensees, and their respective Subcontractors (collectively, "Licensee Improvements"), including all intellectual property rights in such Licensee Improvements, shall be owned and vested with Licensee or its designee; and all Improvements discovered, developed or created jointly by or on behalf of both of the Parties (including through Affiliates, Subcontractors, or other Third Parties) (collectively, "Joint Improvements"), including all intellectual property rights in such Joint Improvements, shall be jointly owned and vested with both Parties or their respective designees. Each Party shall promptly disclose to the other Party in writing all its Improvements and Joint Improvements Controlled by the disclosing Party. Each Party covenants that all employees of such Party, its Affiliates and Permitted Sublicensees shall be bound by a written obligation to assign, transfer and convey all right, title and interest in and to any such Improvements to such Party or its designee.
- 9.1.3. Licenses to Licensor. Licensee hereby grants Licensor an exclusive, royalty-free, fully paid-up, perpetual and irrevocable license, assignable and with the right to grant sublicenses through multiple tiers, under all Licensee Improvements and the Licensee's interest in all Joint Improvements to Develop, Manufacture, or Commercialize the Licensed Compound and/or any Licensed Product outside the Territory. Licensee hereby grants Licensor a non-exclusive, royalty-free, fully paid-up, and perpetual and irrevocable license, assignable and with the right to grant sublicenses through multiple tiers, under all Licensee Improvements and the Licensee's interest in all Joint Improvements only to conduct and complete Development and Manufacture activities for the Licensed Compound or any Licensed Product (including through Affiliates, Subcontractors, or other Third Parties) in the Territory (i) to fulfill Licensor's obligations under this Agreement including, without limitation, (x) in completing the Pivotal Trial, (y) in completing clinical trials for CBP-201-CN003 (NMPA Clinical Trial Registration No. CTR20231224) and CBP-201-CN004 (NMPA Clinical Trial Registration No. CTR20231708), and (z) in conducting and completing any other activities assigned to Licensor as provided in the Technology Transfer Plan, the Development Plan, the Commercialization Plan, each of which (x), (y), and (z) shall be conducted and completed in accordance with this Agreement, or (ii) to

support Development, Manufacture, and/or Commercialization of the Licensed Compound or any Licensed Product outside the Territory, including, without limitation, with respect to seeking any Regulatory Approvals of such Licensed Compound or Licensed Product outside the Territory. Effective upon the termination of this Agreement by Licensor pursuant to Section 13.2, 13.3, 13.4, 13.5 or 13.6 or by Licensee pursuant to Section 13.7, Licensee hereby grants to Licensor an exclusive, royalty-free, fully paid-up, and perpetual and irrevocable license, assignable and with the right to grant sublicenses through multiple tiers, under all Licensee Improvements and the Licensee's interest in all Joint Improvements to Licensor or its designee to Develop, Manufacture, or Commercialize the Licensed Compound and/or any Licensed Product in the Territory. The licenses granted pursuant to this Section 9.1.3 shall survive the expiration or termination of this Agreement.

- 9.2. Patent Prosecution and Maintenance
 - As between the Parties, Licensor shall have the first right, but not the 9.2.1. obligation, to, at its own costs and expenses and in its own name, file, prosecute and maintain all patents and patent applications relating to the Licensed Technology, Licensor Improvements and Joint Improvements (the "Licensor Patent Prosecution Matters"). Prior to filing new patent applications for the Licensed Technology, Licensor Improvements or Joint Improvements in the Territory, Licensor will use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to give Licensee [***] to review the drafts. Prior to submitting prosecution documents for the Licensed Technology, Licensor Improvements or Joint Improvements the Field in the Territory, to the extent practicable, Licensor will use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to give Licensee at least [***] to review the drafts, provided that Licensor shall provide Licensee with copies of any correspondence from the patent office in the Territory (including, without limitation, the China National Intellectual Property Administration) on the Licensed Technology or the Joint Improvements promptly, in no event later than [***] after Licensor receives such correspondence. Licensor will consider and incorporate in good faith Licensee's comments with respect to such drafts. If, during the Term, Licensor (i) intends to allow any Licensed Patent in the Territory to expire, (ii) intends to abandon any invention in any Licensed Patent in the Territory, (iii) decides not to seek patent protection for, to allow to expire, or to abandon any invention in any Licensor Improvements in the Territory, or (iv) decides not to seek patent protection for, to allow to expire, or to abandon any invention in Joint Improvements in the Territory, Licensor will notify Licensee of such intention or decision at least [***] prior to any filing or payment due date, or any other date that requires action, and Licensee will then have the right, but not the obligation, to assume responsibility for the preparation, filing, prosecution or maintenance thereof at its own costs and expenses (for clarity, excluding any renumeration by Licensor to any inventors) in the name of Licensee (the "Licensee Step-In Right"). If Licensee exercises the Licensee Step-In Right pursuant to this Section 9.2.1, Licensor will assigned Licensor's title, interest, and other rights in and to such Licensed Patent in the Territory, Licensor Improvement in the Territory, and Joint Improvements, as applicable, to Licensee, transfer the applicable patent files to Licensee or its designee, execute such documents, and perform such acts, at Licensee's reasonable costs and expenses, as may be reasonably necessary to allow Licensee to initiate or continue such preparation,

filing, prosecution or maintenance, and such Licensor Improvement shall be treated as part of Licensee Improvements for all purposes under this Agreement.

- 9.2.2. As between the Parties, Licensee shall have the first right, but not the obligation, to, at its own costs and expenses, file, prosecute and maintain all patents and patent applications relating to the Licensee Improvements (the "Licensee Patent Prosecution Matters"). Prior to filing new patent applications outside the Territory, Licensee shall give Licensor at least [***] to review the drafts. Prior to submitting prosecution documents for the Licensee Improvements in the Field outside of the Territory, to the extent practicable, Licensee shall use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to give Licensor at least [***] to review the drafts, provided that Licensee shall provide Licensor with copies of any correspondence from the patent office outside of the Territory (including, without limitation, the United States Patent and Trademark Office, the European Patent Office, and the Japan Patent Office) on the Licensee Improvements promptly, in no event later than [***] after Licensee receives such correspondence. Licensee shall consider and incorporate in good faith Licensor's comments with respect to such drafts. If, during the Term, Licensee (i) intends to allow any Patent covering any Licensee Improvement to expire outside of the Territory, or intends to otherwise abandon any such Patent outside of the Territory, or (ii) decides not to seek patent protection for any Licensee Improvement outside of the Territory, Licensee shall notify Licensor of such intention or decision before [***] prior to any filing or payment due date, or any other date that requires action, in connection with any such Patent, and Licensor will then have the right, but not the obligation, to assume responsibility for the preparation, filing, prosecution or maintenance thereof at its own costs and expenses (for clarity, excluding any renumeration by Licensee to any inventors), in the name of Licensor (the "Licensor Step-In Right"). If Licensor exercises the Licensor Step-In Right, Licensee shall transfer the applicable patent files to Licensor or its designee and execute such documents and perform such acts, at Licensor's reasonable expense, as may be reasonably necessary to allow Licensor or its designee to initiate or continue such preparation, filing, prosecution or maintenance, and such Licensee Improvement shall be treated as part of Licensor Improvements for all purposes under this Agreement. Notwithstanding the foregoing, effective upon the termination of this Agreement by Licensor pursuant to Section 13.2, 13.3, 13.4, 13.5 or 13.6 or by Licensee pursuant to Section 13.7, Licensor Step-In Right shall apply to the Territory as well.
- 9.2.3. To the extent a Party elects to conduct its Patent Prosecution Matters (for Licensor, the Licensor Patent Prosecution Matters, and for Licensee, the Licensee Patent Prosecution Matters) pursuant to Section 9.2.1 or Section 9.2.2, to the extent practicable, the responsible Party will use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to provide the other Party with reasonable opportunity to review and discuss. In the event that the responsible Party conducts its Patent Prosecution Matters, the responsible Party shall be responsible for all associated costs, fees and expenses incurred therefor.
- 9.2.4. Each Party agrees to cooperate with the other Party in the preparation, filing, and prosecution of any patents and patent applications relating to the Licensed Technology, Licensee Improvements, and Joint Improvements and in the obtaining and maintenance of any patent extensions, supplementary protection

certificates, patent information registration, and the like with respect to any such patents or patent applications. Such cooperation includes, but is not limited to, promptly informing the other Party of any matters coming to such Party's attention that are reasonably expected to materially affect the preparation, filing, prosecution or maintenance of any such patents or patent applications.

- 9.3. **Patent Enforcement.** Each Party shall [***] notify the other Party in writing of any actual, alleged or threatened infringement in the Field in the Territory of any patent included in the Licensed Technology of which such Party becomes aware.
 - With respect to any infringement in the Field in the Territory of any patent 9.3.1. included in the Licensed Technology, Licensee Improvements and Joint Improvements, Licensee shall, by counsel of its choice and its sole cost and expenses, have the first right, but not the obligation, to bring and control any action or proceeding with respect to such infringement as the exclusive licensee in the Field in the Territory and not in the name of Licensor, including, if necessary for standing purposes, as Licensor's nominee with a special power of attorney from Licensor to Licensee (provided that Licensee shall consider, in good faith, the interests of Licensor in so doing). Licensor shall have the right to be represented in any such action by counsel of its own choice at its own costs and expenses. If following Licensor's written notice or Licensee's otherwise becoming aware of any such an infringement, Licensee fails to bring an infringement action within (a) [***] following the notice or the awareness or (b) [***] before the time limit, if any, as set forth in the Applicable Laws for the filing of such actions, whichever comes first, Licensor shall have the right to bring an action in the Territory with respect to such infringement, in its own name, at Licensor's own costs and expense and by counsel of its own choice. Licensee shall have the right to be represented in any such action by counsel of its own choice at its sole costs and expenses.
 - 9.3.2. In the event that a Party brings an infringement action in accordance with this Section 9.43, the other Party will reasonably cooperate as required by, and at the reasonable costs and expenses of the Party bringing the action. Neither Party shall have the right to settle an infringement action under this Section 9.43 in a manner that would diminish the rights or interests of the other Party without the other Party's prior written consent. Except as otherwise agreed to by the Parties in writing, any recovery as a result of such action, after the reimbursement of the Parties' costs and expenses related to such action and the compensation for the Parties' losses related to such action, in each as demonstrated by competent written evidence, shall be equally shared between the Parties.
- 9.4. Third Party Claims. After each Party becomes aware, such Party shall promptly notify the other in writing of any claim and any action relating thereto taken or contemplated by a Third Party that the activities of either Party pursuant to this Agreement infringes any Third Party intellectual property rights in the Territory (a "Third Party Action"). Licensee shall be solely responsible for responding to, including to control any defense of any such Third Party Action in the Territory at its own expenses and costs and by counsel of its own choice and Licensor shall provide reasonable assistance to Licensee at Licensee's reasonable written request and costs and expenses. Licensor shall have the right to be represented in any such action by counsel of its own choice at its own costs and expenses. Neither Party shall have the right to settle any claim or action under this Section 9.4 without such other Party's prior written consent. Any costs and

expenses incurred by Licensee and all payments to the Third Party by Licensee resulting from any such Third Party Action, including but not limited to damages and royalties, for Licensee's exercise of the License granted by Licensor for the Licensed Technology in accordance with this Agreement may be deducted from the Licensee's future payments to Licensor after Licensee demonstrates to Licensor by competent written evidence payment of such costs, expenses, and payments by Licensee to the Third Party; provided however, that if the Third Party Action is based on any action by any of Licensee, its Affiliates, their Permitted Sublicensees, and their Subcontractors other than the exercise of the License in accordance with this Agreement, then Licensee shall assume and be solely responsible for all costs, and expenses for the Third Party Action and all payments, including but not limited to all related damages and royalties, to the Third Party. [***]

9.5. **Patent Challenges.** In the event that a Party becomes aware of any Patent Challenge (as defined below), such Party shall immediately provide written notice thereof in reasonable detail to the other Party.

10. CONFIDENTIALITY

- 10.1. **Confidentiality.** The Parties agree that, during the Term and for a period of [***] thereafter, each Party (the "Receiving Party") will maintain in confidence all Confidential Information disclosed, shared, or made available by the other Party or any of its Affiliates (the "Disclosing Party"). The Receiving Party and its Affiliates and Permitted Sublicensees (with respect to Licensee), and their respective directors, employees, agents, consultants and other representatives (collectively, their "Representatives") may use the Confidential Information of the Disclosing Party only to the extent required to accomplish the purposes of this Agreement. The Receiving Party shall and shall procure its Affiliates and Permitted Sublicensees (with respect to Licensee) to use at least the same standard of care as they use to protect their own proprietary or confidential information, but in no event less than reasonable care. The Receiving Party and its Affiliates and Permitted Sublicensees (with respect to Licensee) will inform all their Representatives that receive Confidential Information of the Disclosing Party of the confidential and proprietary nature of the Confidential Information and ensure that each such Representative has executed a written agreement (e.g., an existing written employment agreement) requiring that such Representative maintain the confidentiality and non-use of all Confidential Information to the same extent as the Receiving Party. Each Party will promptly notify the other upon discovery of any unauthorized use or disclosure of the other Party's Confidential Information.
- 10.2. **Exceptions.** The obligations of confidentiality contained in Section 10.1 shall not apply to the extent that such Confidential Information of the Disclosing Party:
 - 10.2.1. was known to the Receiving Party or any of its Affiliates, including their respective Representatives, other than under an obligation of confidentiality to the Disclosing Party, at the time of its disclosure to the Receiving Party or its Affiliate, as evidence by the Receiving Party's competent written proof;
 - 10.2.2. was generally available to the public or otherwise part of the public domain at the time of its disclosure to the Receiving Party or its Affiliate, including their respective Representatives;
 - 10.2.3. became generally available to the public or otherwise part of the public domain after its disclosure to the Receiving Party or its Affiliate, including their respective Representatives, other than through any act or omission of the Receiving Party or its Affiliate, including their respective Representatives;
 - 10.2.4. is independently discovered or developed by or on behalf of the Receiving Party or its Affiliate, including by their respective Representatives, without the use of Confidential Information of the Disclosing Party, as evidence by the Receiving Party's competent written proof; or
 - 10.2.5. was disclosed to the Receiving Party or its Affiliate, including their respective Representatives, other than under an obligation of confidentiality to the Disclosing Party, by a Third Party who, according to the Receiving Party's or its Affiliates' knowledge after due inquiry, had no obligation of confidentiality to the Disclosing Party.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, Confidential Information regarding the specific compounds, methods, conditions or features within the Licensed Technology shall not be deemed to be within the foregoing exceptions merely because such Confidential Information is embraced by general disclosures of similar compounds, methods, conditions or features in the public domain or in the possession of the Receiving Party. In addition, a combination of information will not be deemed to fall within the foregoing exceptions, even if components of the combination fall within an exception, unless the combination itself fall within the foregoing exceptions.

- 10.3. **Authorized Disclosure.** Each Party may disclose the Confidential Information of the other Party to the extent such disclosure is reasonably necessary in the following instances:
 - 10.3.1. filing, prosecuting or maintaining patents and patent applications relating to the Licensed Technology, the Joint Improvement, Licensor Improvements or Licensee Improvements in accordance with this Agreement;
 - 10.3.2. providing to a government entity or database pursuant to the Applicable Laws;
 - 10.3.3. complying with applicable court orders or stock exchange rules; or
 - 10.3.4. disclosing to existing or potential Third Party investors, merger partners, acquirors, and professional advisors (including lawyers, accountants, and investment bankers) in the context of a potential transaction; provided, however, that any such Third Party agrees to be bound in writing (provided that, solely with respect to professional advisors serving as lawyers to a party, the agreement need not be in writing) by similar terms of confidentiality and non-use at least equivalent in scope and degree to those set forth in this Article 10.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, in the event a Party is required to make a disclosure of the other Party's Confidential Information pursuant to Section 10.3.3, such Party will, except where impracticable or prohibited by the Applicable Laws, give reasonable advance notice to the other Party of such disclosure and provide reasonable assistance, at the other Party's reasonable costs and expenses, to the other Party's efforts in seeking confidential treatment of such other Party's Confidential Information. In any event, the Parties agree to take reasonable actions to avoid public disclosure of Confidential Information of the other Party. The Parties will reasonably consult with each other on the provisions of this Agreement to be redacted in any public filings made by a Party; provided that each Party shall be entitled to rely on its counsel's advice to comply with the rules and requirements of the applicable government agencies and the applicable stock exchanges.

10.4. **Publication.** Neither Party shall publish or publicly disclose the results generated hereunder with respect to the Development, Manufacture, or Commercialization of the Licensed Compound or any Licensed Product without providing the other Party with the opportunity for prior review, except to the extent otherwise required by the Applicable Law. A Party seeking to publish or disclose such results (the "**Publishing Party**") shall provide the other Party with a copy of such proposed abstract, manuscript, or presentation no less than [***] (or at least [***] in the case of oral presentations or

conference abstracts) prior to its intended submission for publication. The other Party shall respond in writing promptly after receipt of the proposed material with any comments on the proposed material, which the Publishing Party shall consider in good faith, an identification of any of the other Party's Confidential Information that cannot be published, or an identification of any part of the proposed abstract, manuscript, or presentation that if published or disclosed might negatively affect the commercial value of the Licensed Compound or Licensed Product or might harm the Development, Manufacture, or Commercialization of the Licensed Compound or Licensed Product by such other Party. The Publishing Party shall agree to delay as necessary if such publication might adversely affect that Patent, to remove such parts of the proposed abstract, manuscript, or presentation, which publication or disclosure negatively affecting the commercial value of the Licensed Compound and/or Licensed Product or the Development, Manufacture, or Commercialization of the Licensed Compound and/or Licensed Product, and to otherwise consider the other Party's reasonable comments in good faith. Neither Party will have the right to publish the other Party's Confidential Information or information that may harm the commercial value of the Licensed Compound and/or Licensed Product without the other Party's prior written consent.

10.5. The Parties will jointly issue a press release announcing the Publicity. execution of this Agreement, the substance and form of which will be mutually agreed upon by the Parties in good faith prior to or promptly after the Effective Date. In the event that either Party desires to issue subsequent press releases relating to this Agreement or activities under this Agreement that disclose information materially different from the information set forth in such initial press release or in any subsequent authorized press release, such Party agrees to obtain the other Party's written permission with respect to the content and timing of such press releases prior to the issuance thereof; provided, however, that such other Party may not unreasonably delay, condition or withhold consent to such releases, and that each Party may make any governmental filings and public disclosures as it determines, based on advice of its counsel, are reasonably necessary to comply with the Applicable Laws. In addition, following the initial (or any subsequent) press release announcing this Agreement or any activity under the Agreement, each Party will be free to disclose, without the other Party's consent, the existence of this Agreement and the identity of each other and those terms of this Agreement or activities which have already been publicly disclosed in accordance with this Agreement.

11. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES, COVENANTS

- 11.1. **Mutual Representations and Warranties**. Each Party hereby represents and warrants to the other Party that: (i) it is duly authorized to execute and deliver this Agreement and to perform its obligations hereunder, without violating such Party's charter documents, bylaws, or other organizational documents or any Applicable Laws presently in effect applicable to such Party; (ii) this Agreement is a legal and valid obligation binding upon such Party; and (iii) the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement do not conflict with any agreement, instrument or understanding, oral or written, to which it is a party or by which it may be bound.
- 11.2. **Representations and Warranties by Licensee**. Licensee hereby represents and warrants to Licensor that:
 - 11.2.1. Licensee has the ability to perform all of its obligations hereunder;
 - 11.2.2. as of the Effective Date, there are no claims, judgments or settlements against or pending with respect to Licensee, its Affiliates, or their activities preventing Licensee or its Affiliates to perform this Agreement, and no investigations are pending or threatened relating to Licensee or its Affiliates' activities preventing Licensee or its Affiliates to perform this Agreement;
 - 11.2.3. Licensee and its Affiliates shall be in compliance with all Applicable Laws; and
 - 11.2.4. Licensee has not entered, and shall not enter (and shall cause Affiliates, Permitted Sublicensees and Subcontractors not to enter), into any agreement that is in conflict with this Agreement, and has not taken and shall not take any action that would otherwise materially conflict with or adversely affect Licensor's rights under this Agreement.
- 11.3. **Covenants of Licensee**. Licensee hereby covenants to Licensor that
 - 11.3.1. Licensee shall comply (and shall cause Affiliates, Permitted Sublicensees, and Subcontractors to comply) with the Applicable Laws and shall not violate any law, regulation, or rule of any court, governmental body or administrative or other agency in performing the obligations hereunder, and shall perform the activities contemplated by the Agreement for the Development, Manufacture and Commercialization of the Licensed Compound or any Licensed Product in the Territory in accordance with the Applicable Laws as well as GLP, GCP and GMP.
 - 11.3.2. Licensee shall comply (and shall cause Affiliates, Permitted Sublicensees, Subcontractors, and its and their respective employees, officers, directors and agents to comply) with the Applicable Laws relating to anti-bribery and/or anti-corruption, including, without limitation, the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (15 U.S.C. § 78dd-1, et seq.), the PRC Criminal Law, the PRC Anti-Unfair Competition Law, or other similar Applicable Laws, in each case, as amended from time to time (collectively, the "Anti-Corruption Laws").
 - 11.3.3. Licensee shall have and maintain (and shall cause Affiliates, Permitted Sublicensees, and Subcontractors to have and maintain) in place policies and procedures to ensure compliance with the Anti-Corruption Laws and other

Applicable Laws, and shall effectively implement (and shall cause Affiliates, Permitted Sublicensees, and Subcontractors to effectively implement) such policies and procedures. Licensee shall promptly investigate any potential violation of the Anti-Corruption Laws or any other Applicable Laws by Licensee, or Affiliates, Permitted Sublicensees, or Subcontractors in connection with the performance of this Agreement, and promptly report the findings of such investigations in writing to Licensor.

- 11.3.4. In the event Licensee becomes aware of any breach of this Section 11.3 by Licensee or any Affiliates, Permitted Sublicenses or Subcontractors, Licensee shall promptly notify Licensor. Licensee shall cease and desist such action, and cause the Affiliate, Permitted Sublicensee or Subcontractor to cease and desist such action.
- 11.3.5. To Licensee's Knowledge, all of the data, results, and other information disclosed to Licensor by or on behalf of Licensee as of the Effective Date are materially accurate, and Licensee has not, as of the Effective Date, failed to disclose any information that is materially different from Licensee's disclosure;
- 11.3.6. Licensee and its Affiliates, and their respective contractors have conducted and shall conduct, all activities, to the extent part of Licensee's obligations under this Agreement, in good scientific manner and in material compliance with all applicable Regulatory requirements and standards and all Applicable Laws;
- 11.3.7. Licensee (i) shall have and maintain facilities, personnel, experience and expertise sufficient in quality and quantity to perform its obligations hereunder, (ii) shall perform its obligations hereunder with reasonable due care and in conformity with current generally accepted industry standards and procedures, and (iii) shall establish and maintain appropriate quality assurance, quality controls and review procedures to ensure good standard performance of its obligations hereunder.
- 11.4. **Representation and Warranty by Licensor**. Licensor hereby represents and warrants to Licensee, as of the Effective Date, that:
 - 11.4.1. Licensor owns or otherwise Controls the Licensed Technology, and the Licensed Technology is free and clear of any liens, charges, encumbrances, or judgments;
 - 11.4.2. Licensor is entitled to grant the License granted to Licensee and transfer the information transferred to Licensee under this Agreement, and is not currently bound by any agreement with any Third Party, or by any outstanding order, judgment, or decree of any court or administrative agency, that restricts it in any way from granting to Licensee the License or transferring the information as set forth in this Agreement;
 - 11.4.3. Neither Licensor nor any of its Affiliates have assigned, transferred, conveyed, granted, or otherwise encumbered any right, title, or interest in or to the Licensed Technology that would conflict with or interfere with the License granted to Licensee hereunder; and

- 11.4.4. Licensor is not aware of any infringement in the Field in the Territory of the Licensed Patents and the Licensed Know-How as of the Effective Date.
- 11.4.5. To Licensor's Knowledge, all of the data, results, and other information disclosed to Licensee by or on behalf of Licensor as of the Effective Date are materially accurate, and Licensor has not, as of the Effective Date, failed to disclose any information that is materially different from Licensor's prior disclosure.

11.5. Covenant of Licensor. Licensor covenants to Licensee that

- 11.5.1. During the Term, Licensor will not assign, transfer, convey or encumber, its right, title or interest in or to the Licensed Technology in a manner that would prevent or otherwise impede Licensee from Developing, Manufacturing or Commercializing the Licensed Compound and Licensed Product in the Field in the Territory;
- 11.5.2. During the Term, Licensor will deliver to Licensee pursuant to the Technology Transfer Plan all Licensed Know-How materially relating to the Licensed Compound and/or Licensed Product existing at the Effective Date that is necessary or reasonably useful for the Development, Manufacturing, and Commercialization of the Licensed Compound or any Licensed Product in the Field and in the Territory;
- 11.5.3. Licensor and its Affiliates, and their respective contractors have conducted and shall conduct, all activities, to the extent part of Licensor's obligations under this Agreement, in good scientific manner and in material compliance with all applicable Regulatory requirements and standards and all Applicable Laws;
- 11.5.4. Licensor (i) shall have and maintain facilities, personnel, experience and expertise sufficient in quality and quantity to perform its obligations hereunder, (ii) shall perform its obligations hereunder with reasonable due care and in conformity with current generally accepted industry standards and procedures, and (iii) shall establish and maintain appropriate quality assurance, quality controls and review procedures to ensure good standard performance of its obligations hereunder.
- 11.6. **Disclaimer**. EXCEPT AS EXPRESSLY STATED IN THIS AGREEMENT, ALL MATERIALS, TECHNOLOGY AND INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY PROVIDED BY LICENSOR ARE PROVIDED "AS IS," AND LICENSOR EXPRESSLY DISCLAIMS ANY REPRESENTATIONS WARRANTIES OF ANY KIND, EXPRESS OR IMPLIED OR ARISING FROM A COURSE OF DEALING, USAGE OR TRADE PRACTICES, INCLUDING ANY REPRESENTATIONS OR WARRANTIES REGARDING DESIGN, NON-INFRINGEMENT, MERCHANTABILITY, OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE.

12. BOOKS AND RECORDS; AUDIT RIGHTS

- 12.1. Books and Records.
 - 12.1.1. Licensee shall, and shall cause its Affiliates and Permitted Sublicensees to, maintain true and complete books and records pertaining to Net Sales of any Licensed Product in sufficient details to calculate all amounts payable with respect to such Net Sales for [***] from the end of the Calendar Year of such sales (collectively, the "**Books and Records**").
 - 12.1.2. If any Books and Records are provided to Licensor or its designee for audits, Licensee shall obtain, and shall cause its Affiliates or Permitted Sublicensees to obtain, proper consent for disclosing such information to Licensor or its designee for such purposes hereunder.
- 12.2. Financial Audit.
 - 12.2.1. Licensor, upon no less than [***] prior notice in writing to Licensee, shall have the right to audit or designate an independent public accounting firm, which the independent public accounting firm shall be reasonably acceptable to Licensee and shall execute a reasonable confidentiality agreement with Licensee, to audit, all Books and Records solely to verify payments due and paid under this Agreement (each, a "**Financial Audit**"); provided, however, that such audit (a) shall not occur more often than [***] without cause, (b) shall occur at reasonable times during normal business hours, and (c) shall be with respect to the scope, method, nature and duration necessary for the purpose of the audit. Licensee shall use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to fully cooperate with, and shall cause its Affiliates and Permitted Sublicensees to use Commercially Reasonable Effort to fully cooperate with, such Financial Audit. Prompt adjustments shall be made by Licensee to reflect the results of such Financial Audit.
 - 12.2.2. Licensor will conduct Financial Audits [***]; provided however, that if it is determined by a Financial Audit that Licensor has been underpaid by more than [***] of what was owed in any Calendar Quarter that is the subject of such Financial Audit, the costs and expenses of such Financial Audit shall be borne by Licensee.

13. TERM; TERMINATION

- 13.1. **Term**. This Agreement shall commence on the Effective Date and, unless extended pursuant to the Parties' mutual agreement or sooner terminated as provided hereunder, until expiration of the Royalty Term (the "**Term**"). Upon the expiration (but not early termination) of the Royalty Term with respect to a Licensed Product in a Region in the Territory, the license granted to Licensee under Section 2.1 shall become exclusive, perpetual, irrevocable, fully-paid up and royalty-free with respect to such Licensed Product in such Region.
- 13.2. Termination for Breach.
 - 13.2.1. Either Party may, without prejudice to any other remedies available to it under this Agreement or at law or in equity, terminate this Agreement in whole or in part (with respect to one or several Regions and/or for one or several indications if a material breach has been declared with respect to one or several Regions and/or with respect to one or several indications in accordance with this Section 13.2.1) prior to the expiration of the Term in the event that the other Party (as used in this subsection, the "**Breaching Party**") has materially breached this Agreement and has not cured such breach within [***] after a written notice of such breach is provided to the Breaching Party, which notice shall specify the nature of the breach and demand its cure.
 - 13.2.1.1. The foregoing notwithstanding, the [***] cure period shall be extended for a reasonable period to be mutually agreed upon by the Parties in good faith not exceeding another [***] if the Breaching Party, within [***] after the Breaching Party's receipt of the written notice of breach, provides a written plan that reasonably demonstrates the need for such additional time and is reasonably acceptable to the non-Breaching Party (the "**Remediation Plan**") and continues to use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to cure such breach.
 - 13.2.1.2. In the event that the Parties dispute in good faith (a) the existence of a material breach or (b) a Party's diligence in attempting to cure a material breach or (c) the non-Breaching Party considers that the Remediation Plan would not remedy the breach, termination of this Agreement shall not be deemed to occur unless and until (1) such dispute has been referred for resolution in accordance with Article 15, material breach of this Agreement or failure to make diligent efforts to cure such breach in accordance with the Remediation Plan or inability of the Remediation Plan to cure the breach has been established by an arbitration thereunder and, if such breach can be cured by the payment of money or by taking of specific remedial actions, (2) the Breaching Party does not pay the amount so determined to be due or otherwise cure the breach so determined within [***] of receipt of the arbitration decision (unless Licensee elects to continue this Agreement in accordance with the following 13.2.1.3) or otherwise diligently undertake and complete such remedial actions within the timeframe established by such arbitration decision.
 - 44

- 13.2.1.3. Notwithstanding the above, in the event Licensor as the Breaching Party does not pay the amount so determined within [***] of receipt of the arbitration decision, by providing written notice to Licensor within [***] of such non-payment, Licensee may elect either to terminate this Agreement and be compensated with damages to be determined in the arbitration or to irrevocably waive the right to terminate this Agreement and continue this Agreement, set off the amount determined by the arbitration decision against future payments due to Licensor under this Agreement and renegotiate the financials of the Agreement going forward (*i.e.*, future Development Milestones Payments, Sales Milestone Payments and Royalty Payments) to reflect potential loss of the value of the Licensed Product.
- 13.2.1.4. In the event that Licensee as the Breaching Party does not pay the amount so determined within [***] of receipt of the arbitration decision, Licensee agrees to pay, in addition to the amount so determined, an accrued interest amount calculated using a simple monthly interest rate of [***] of the amount so determined for each month from [***] of receipt of the arbitration decision until the full payment of the amount so determined unless expressly prohibited by Applicable Laws, in which case the rate shall be reduced to the highest permissible rate according to the Applicable Laws.
- 13.2.1.5. The right of either Party to terminate this Agreement as provided in this Section 13.2.1 shall not be affected in any way by such Party's waiver or failure to take action with respect to any previous breach or default.
- 13.3. **Termination for Insolvency**. Each Party shall have the right to terminate this Agreement upon written notice to the other Party if (i) the other Party files in any court or agency pursuant to any statute or regulation of any jurisdiction a petition in bankruptcy or insolvency or for reorganization or similar arrangement for the benefit of its creditors or for the appointment of a receiver or trustee of such Party or its assets, (ii) the other Party is served with an involuntary petition against it in any insolvency proceeding and such involuntary petition has not been stayed or dismissed within [***] of its filing, or (iii) the other Party makes an assignment of substantially all of its assets for the benefit of its creditors.
- 13.4. **Termination for Patent Challenges.** Each Party shall have the right to terminate this Agreement upon written notice to the other Party in the event that the other Party or any of its Affiliates or Permitted Sublicensees (licensee with respect to Licensor), directly or indirectly, commences any action, claim, motion, petition, litigation, or proceeding, including any interference proceeding, opposition proceeding, post-grant examination, inter-partes review, ex-parte proceeding, or multiparty proceeding, challenges the validity or enforceability of, or opposes the issuance, grant, or extension of, or the grant of a supplementary protection certificate with respect to, any patents or patent applications relating to the Licensed Technology, Licensee Improvements, or Joint Improvements (each, a "**Patent Challenge**"); except where the Patent Challenge is initiated by a Permitted Sublicense with respect to Licensee or a licensee with respect to Licensor without involving the other Party and (a) the other Party terminates such

Permitted Sublicensee's sublicense (with respect to Licensee) or such licensee's license (with respect to Licensor) within [***] of such Party's notice to the other Party <u>or</u> (b) the Patent Challenge is withdrawn or terminated within [***] of such Party's notice to the other Party.

- 13.5. **Termination Due to Force Majeure**. If the occurrence of a Force Majeure Event prevents the non-performing Party from performing under this Agreement and such occurrence persists for more than [***], the non-performing Party shall provide a written notice to the other Party, and the Parties shall then negotiate in good faith a modification of the Parties' obligations under this Agreement in order to mitigate the delays caused by such Force Majeure Event. If the Parties cannot agree on such a mitigation plan within [***] from such notice, the other Party shall have the right to terminate this Agreement upon written notice to the non-performing Party.
- 13.6. **Termination for Compliance Issues.** Licensor shall have the right to terminate this Agreement upon written notice to Licensee if Licensee or any of its Affiliates or Permitted Sublicensees fails to remediate a Non-compliance Event under Section 8.4; provided, however, that if Licensee disputes in good faith the existence of such Non-compliance Event or the inadequacy of remediation measures, this Agreement shall not be terminated until such dispute is resolved in accordance with Article 15.
- 13.7. Termination by Licensee. Licensee shall be entitled to terminate this Agreement in whole or in part (with respect to one or several Regions and/or one or several Licensed Products and/or one or several indications) immediately upon written notice in the event (i) that the Pivotal Trial fails to meet its primary end point set forth in the relevant protocol; (ii) either or both of the clinical trials for CBP-201-CN003 (NMPA Clinical Trial Registration No. CTR20231224) and CBP-201-CN004 (NMPA Clinical Trial Registration No. CTR20231708) fail(s) to meet its/their primary end point(s) in the relevant protocol; or (iii) that, on a Region-by-Region and indicationby-indication basis and only with respect to the impacted Region and indication, the Applicable Law or Regulatory Authority in the applicable Region orders a permanent cessation or otherwise permanent stop of Development, Manufacturing or Commercialization of the Licensed Compound and/or Licensed Product for the applicable indication, which cessation or stop cannot be appealed to in a legal proceeding; or (iv) that, upon at least [***] prior written notice to Licensor, as demonstrated by competent written evidence, on a Region-by-Region and indicationby-indication basis and only with respect to the impacted Region and indication, in light of the available reimbursement and competitive market conditions, it is no longer commercially feasible to Commercialize the Licensed Product based on the lack of profitability; provided that any of the foregoing (iii) or (iv) shall not arise directly or indirectly from the negligence, willful misconduct or breach of this Agreement of Licensee, its Affiliates or Permitted Sublicensees, or their Subcontractors.
- 13.8. Effect of Termination; Surviving Obligations
 - 13.8.1. **Termination by Licensor**. If Licensor is the terminating Party due to Licensee's material and uncured breach under Section 13.2, Licensee's insolvency under Section 13.3, Licensee's Patent Challenge under Section 13.4, a Force Majeure Event under Section 13.5, or Licensee's compliance issue under Section 13.6:

- 13.8.1.1. all rights under the License, if then in effect, will automatically terminate and revert to Licensor;
- 13.8.1.2. Licensee shall (and shall cause its Affiliates and Permitted Sublicensees to) promptly deliver to Licensor or its designee all documents, data and information in any medium relating to the Licensed Technology, and transfer and assign to Licensor or its designee all Regulatory Documents relating to the Licensed Compound or any Licensed Product, including regulatory filings made with and all Regulatory Approvals obtained from the Regulatory Authorities in the Territory, and to the extent that such transfer and assignment of any Regulatory Documents is not possible under the Applicable Laws, at Licensor's request, withdraw and revoke such Regulatory Documents with the Regulatory Authorities; and Licensee shall take such other actions and execute such other instruments, assignment, withdrawal or revocation;
- 13.8.1.3. Licensee shall and (shall cause its Affiliates and Permitted Sublicensees to) use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to fully cooperate with Licensor or its designee to facilitate the orderly transition and uninterrupted Development, Manufacturing and Commercialization of the Licensed Compound and any Licensed Product in the Territory, including, without limitation, by promptly assigning or otherwise transferring to Licensor or its designee all right, title and interest in all Third Party contracts (or portions thereof) related to such Development, Manufacturing and Commercialization, as requested by Licensor and Licensee shall promptly provide a list and copies of such contracts to Licensor;
- 13.8.1.4. Licensor shall have the right, at its sole discretion, to purchase from Licensee any or all of the inventory of the Licensed Product and materials generated in the Development, Manufacture and Commercialization of the Licensed Product, such as drug materials and biologics, clinical brochures, and marketing and promotional materials, Controlled by or on behalf of Licensee, at a price equal to [***] (the "**Inventory Purchase Right**"). Licensor will notify Licensee within [***] of the effective date of termination if Licensor elects to exercise such Inventory Purchase Right; provided that, such Inventory Purchase Right may be exercised within a period of [***] of the effective date of termination;
- 13.8.1.5. If any clinical trials for the Licensed Compound or any Licensed Product are being conducted by or on behalf of Licensee, its Affiliates or Permitted Sublicensees, at Licensor' request on a trial-by-trial basis, Licensee (i) shall (and shall cause its Affiliates and Permitted Sublicensees to) use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to fully cooperate with Licensor or its designee and promptly transfer the conduct of all such clinical trials to Licensor or its designee in accordance with the Applicable Laws, or (ii) shall (and shall cause its Affiliates and Permitted Sublicensees to) orderly

<u>4</u>7

wind down in accordance with the Applicable Laws the conduct of such clinical trials that are not requested to be transferred to Licensor or its designee; and

- 13.8.1.6. Licensee shall (and shall cause its Affiliates and Permitted Sublicensees to) promptly transfer and assign to Licensor or its designee, at no costs, all Product Data generated from the Development, Manufacture and Commercialization of the Licensed Compound or any Licensed Product, including, without limitation, all clinical trial data and all pharmacovigilance data (including, without limitation, all adverse event databases) relating thereto in Licensee's, its Affiliates' or Permitted Sublicensees' Control, which shall be Licensor's Confidential Information.
- 13.8.2. **Termination by Licensee**. If Licensee is the terminating Party due to Licensor's material and uncured breach under Section 13.2, Licensor's insolvency under Section 13.3, Licensor's Patent Challenge under Section 13.4, a Force Majeure Event under Section 13.5, or any causes under Section 13.7:
 - 13.8.2.1. all rights under the License, if then in effect, will automatically terminate and revert to Licensor;
 - 13.8.2.2. Licensee shall (and shall cause its Affiliates and Permitted Sublicensees to) promptly deliver to Licensor or its designee all documents, data and information in any medium relating to the Licensed Technology, and transfer and assign to Licensor or its designee all Regulatory Documents relating to the Licensed Compound or any Licensed Product, including regulatory filings made with and all Regulatory Approvals obtained from the Regulatory Authorities in the Territory, and to the extent that such transfer and assignment of any Regulatory Documents is not possible under the Applicable Laws, at Licensor's request, withdraw and revoke such Regulatory Documents with the Regulatory Authorities; and Licensee shall take such other actions and execute such other instruments, assignment, withdrawal or revocation;
 - 13.8.2.3. Licensee shall and (shall cause its Affiliates and Permitted Sublicensees to) use Commercially Reasonable Efforts fully cooperate with Licensor or its designee to facilitate the orderly transition and uninterrupted Development, Manufacturing and Commercialization of the Licensed Compound and any Licensed Product in the Territory, including, without limitation, by promptly assigning or otherwise transferring to Licensor or its designee all right, title and interest in all Third Party contracts (or portions thereof) related to such Development, Manufacturing and Commercialization, as requested by Licensor and Licensee shall promptly provide a list and copies of such contracts to Licensor;

- 13.8.2.4. Licensor (a) shall purchase from Licensee all of the inventory of the Licensed Product and materials generated in the Development, Manufacture and Commercialization of the Licensed Product, such as drug substances and biologics, clinical brochures, and marketing and promotional materials, Controlled by or on behalf of Licensee, but at a price equal to the Manufacturing cost plus [***] within [***] from the effective date of termination; or may request Licensee to sell or distribute such inventory on behalf of Licensor in the Territory, which whereby Licensee will notify Licensor in writing within [***] of the effective date of termination whether Licensee accepts such request from Licensor, and (i) if Licensee accepts such request from Licensor, in which case the Parties shall negotiate in good faith and enter into a separate sales agreement within [***] from the effective date of termination or (ii) if Licensee such request from Licensor, Licensor shall complete the purchase in accordance with this Section 13.8.2.4;
- 13.8.2.5. If any clinical trials for the Licensed Compound or any Licensed Product are being conducted by or on behalf of Licensee, its Affiliates or Permitted Sublicensees, at Licensor' request on a trial-by-trial basis, Licensee (i) shall (and shall cause its Affiliates and Permitted Sublicensees to) use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to cooperate with Licensor or its designee and promptly transfer the conduct of all such clinical trials to Licensor or its designee in accordance with the Applicable Laws, or (ii) shall (and shall cause its Affiliates and Permitted Sublicensees to) orderly wind down in accordance with the Applicable Laws the conduct of such clinical trials that are not requested to be transferred to Licensor or its designee; and
- 13.8.2.6. Licensee shall (and shall cause its Affiliates and Permitted Sublicensees to) promptly transfer and assign to Licensor or its designee, at Licensor's reasonable costs and expenses, all Product Data generated from the Development, Manufacture and Commercialization of the Licensed Compound or any Licensed Product, including, without limitation, all clinical trial data and all pharmacovigilance data (including, without limitation, all adverse event databases) relating thereto in Licensee's, its Affiliates' or Permitted Sublicensees' Control, which shall be Licensor's Confidential Information.
- 13.8.3. Expiration or termination of this Agreement will not relieve the Parties of any obligations including, without limitation, any payment obligations that accrued prior to such expiration or termination. The obligations and rights of the Parties under the following provisions of this Agreement will survive the expiration or termination of this Agreement: Article 1, Article 7 (with respect to Licensee's payment obligations prior to the termination or expiration of the Agreement), Section 9.1, Section 10, Section 11.6, Section 12.1, Section 13.8, Section 13.9, Section 14, Section 15 and Section 16.
- 13.8.4. Within [***] following the expiration or termination of this Agreement, subject to this Section 13.8, the Receiving Party shall deliver to the Disclosing Party any

and all Confidential Information of the Disclosing Party in the Receiving Party's, its Affiliates' or Permitted Sublicensees' (in case of Licensee) or licensees' (in case of Licensor) possession, or at the Disclosing Party's option, destroy such Confidential Information, and upon the Disclosing Party's reasonable written request, certify the same in writing to the Disclosing Party. For the avoidance of doubt, the provision above shall not apply to: (i) Confidential Information which the Receiving Party or its Affiliates are required to retain by the Applicable Laws or Regulatory Authorities, including, without limitation, for the Receiving Party's or its Affiliates' internal archive purpose; or (ii) Confidential Information which is stored electronically by the Receiving Party's or its Representatives' automatic archiving or back-up systems, to the extent that such deletion would be technologically impracticable; provided that, such retained or stored Confidential Information may only be used for the Receiving Party's or its Affiliates' internal archive purpose.

- 13.8.5. Within [***] following the expiration or termination of this Agreement, Licensee shall prepare and provide to Licensor a true-up report, reflecting (i) the actual aggregate Net Sales of any Licensed Product sold during the Term; and (ii) the actual Royalty Payments due to Licensor based on the actual aggregate Net Sales of the Licensed Product sold during the Term and the applicable royalty rates set forth above. If such calculation shows any underpayments, Licensee shall pay such underpaid amount to Licensor within [***] of Licensor's notification, and if such calculation shows overpayments, Licenser will refund to Licensee such overpaid amount within [***] of its notification.
- 13.9. **Remedies.** Termination of this Agreement will not preclude either Party from claiming or seeking to any other damages, compensation or relief that it may otherwise be entitled to.

14. INDEMNIFICATION; INSURANCE

- 14.1. Indemnification by Licensee. Licensee hereby agrees to save, defend, indemnify and hold harmless Licensor, its Affiliates, their respective officers, directors, employees, agents and stockholders (each, an "Licensor Indemnitee") from and against any and all losses, damages, liabilities, expenses and costs, including reasonable attorneys' fees ("Losses"), to which an Licensor Indemnitee may become subject as a result of any claim, demand, action or other proceeding by any Third Party, including any Regulatory Authority ("Claim"), to the extent such Losses arise directly or indirectly from (i) a breach by Licensee, or its Affiliates or Permitted Sublicensees of any applicable representation, warranty, covenant or obligation under this Agreement, or (ii) the Development, Manufacture, Commercialization, handling, storage, sale or disposition of the Licensed Compound or any Licensed Product by Licensee, its Affiliates, or Permitted Sublicensees; except to the extent that (i) the Licensor Indemnitees fail to comply with the indemnification procedures set forth in Section 14.3 and Licensee's defense of the relevant Claim is materially prejudiced by such failure, (ii) such Claim primarily arises from any activity or occurrence for which Licensor is obligated to indemnify the Licensee Indemnitees under Section 14.2, or (iii) such Losses result from the gross negligence or willful misconduct of Licensor, its Affiliates or other Licensor Indemnitees.
- 14.2. Indemnification by Licensor. Licensor hereby agrees to save, defend, indemnify and hold harmless Licensee, its Affiliates, their respective officers, directors, employees, agents and stockholders (each, an "Licensee Indemnitee") from and against any and all Losses, to which an Licensee Indemnitee may become subject as a result of any Claim, to the extent such Losses arise directly or indirectly from (i) a breach by Licensor or its Affiliates of any applicable representation, warranty, covenant or obligation under this Agreement, or (ii) the Development, Manufacture, Commercialization, handling, storage, sale or disposition of the Licensed Compound or any Licensed Product by Licensor or its Affiliates; except to the extent (i) the Licensee Indemnitees fail to comply with the indemnification procedures set forth in Section 14.3 and Licensor's defense of the relevant Claim is materially prejudiced by such failure, (ii) such Claim primarily arises from any activity or occurrence for which Licensee is obligated to indemnify the Licensor Indemnitees under Section 14.1, or (iii) such Losses result from the gross negligence or willful misconduct of Licensee, its Affiliates or other Licensee Indemnitees.
- 14.3. **Indemnification Procedures**. The Party or any other indemnitees claiming indemnity under this Article 14 (the "**Indemnified Party**") shall give written notice to the Party from whom indemnity is being sought (the "**Indemnifying Party**") promptly after learning of the applicable Claim and shall offer control of the defense of such Claim to the Indemnifying Party, and the Indemnifying Party shall have the right to assume and conduct the defense of the Claim with counsel of its choice. The Indemnified Party shall provide the Indemnifying Party with reasonable assistance, at the Indemnifying Party's reasonable costs and expenses, in connection with the defense of the Claim for which indemnity is being sought. The Indemnified Party may participate in and monitor such defense with counsel of its own choosing at its own costs and expenses. The Indemnifying Party shall not settle any Claim without the prior written consent of the Indemnified Party, not to be unreasonably withheld, delayed or conditioned, unless the settlement involves only the payment of money. So long as the

Indemnifying Party is actively defending the Claim in good faith, the Indemnified Party shall not settle or compromise any such Claim without the prior written consent of the Indemnifying Party. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Indemnifying Party does not assume and conduct the defense of the Claim as provided above, (i) the Indemnified Party may assume and conduct the defense of the Claim with counsel of its choice, consent to the entry of any judgment, or enter into any settlement with respect to such Claim in any manner the Indemnified Party may deem reasonably appropriate (and the Indemnified Party need not consult with, or obtain any consent from, the Indemnifying Party in connection therewith), and (ii) the Indemnifying Party shall remain responsible to indemnify the Indemnified Party as provided in this Article 14.

14.4. **Insurance.** Each Party and its Affiliates and Permitted Sublicensees shall, at their own costs and expenses, maintain the insurance as (i) required by the Applicable Laws or (ii) necessary or reasonable useful to cover Losses arising from or related to this Agreement.

15. **DISPUTE RESOLUTION**

- 15.1. The Parties recognize that disputes may arise in relation to this Agreement. If the Parties cannot resolve any such dispute within [***] after a written notice thereof from a Party to the other Party, either Party may, by written notice to the other, refer such dispute to senior executives of the Parties. The senior executives shall negotiate in good faith to resolve the dispute within [***] after such reference. During such period of negotiations, any relevant time periods related to a Party's obligations under this Agreement in connection with such dispute, including any cure period with respect thereto, shall be tolled. If the senior executives are unable to resolve the dispute within such period of negotiations, except for any Dispute required to be arbitrated pursuant to Section 15.2, either Party may pursue any remedy available to it at law or in equity, subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement.
- 15.2. Any dispute, controversy or claim that arises from or is related to a breach or termination of this Agreement but does not constitute an Excluded Claim (each, a "**Dispute**") shall be resolved by binding arbitration administered by the Hong Kong International Arbitration Centre ("**HKIAC**") under the HKIAC Administered Arbitration Rules then in force ("**HKIAC Rules**"). The seat of arbitration shall be Hong Kong. The language of the arbitration shall be English. Any situation not expressly covered by this Agreement shall be decided in accordance with the HKIAC Rules. The decision rendered in any such arbitration, absent a manifest error, shall be final and not appealable. As used in this Section, the term "**Excluded Claim**" shall mean a dispute that concerns the validity, enforceability or infringement of any patent relating to the Licensed Technology, Joint Improvements, Licensor Improvements or Licensee Improvements.
- 15.3. The arbitration shall be conducted by a panel of three (3) arbitrators experienced in the biopharmaceutical business, each of whom shall not be a current or former employee or director, or a then-current stockholder, of either Party or any of its Affiliates (the "**Panel**"). Each Party shall appoint one (1) arbitrator and the third arbitrator shall be appointed by HKIAC. The arbitrators may, in the award, allocate all or part of the costs of the arbitration, including the fees of the arbitration and the reasonable attorneys' fees of the prevailing Party.
- 15.4. A written award shall be rendered by the Panel following a full comprehensive hearing, no later than [***] following the selection of the arbitrators as provided for in Section 15.3 (the "Award").
- 15.5. The Award rendered by the Panel may be entered in any court having jurisdiction thereof. The Award shall be promptly paid in RMB or another currency designated by the recipient of the Award, free of any tax, deduction or offset; and any costs, fees or taxes incident to enforcing the Award shall, to the maximum extent permitted by the Applicable Laws, be charged against the Party resisting enforcement. Such Award may include an appropriate allocation of the prevailing Party's attorneys' fees. Each Party agrees to abide by the Award rendered in the arbitration conducted pursuant to this Article 15. The Award shall include interest from the date of the Award until paid in full, at a rate fixed by the Panel, and the Panel may, in their discretion, award pre-judgment interest.

- 15.6. Except as set forth in Section 15.5, each Party shall bear its own legal fees. The Panel may, at its sole discretion, assess their fees, costs, and expenses against the Party losing the arbitration or apportion their fees, costs and expenses between the Parties.
- 15.7. Nothing in this Article 15 shall preclude either Party from seeking equitable relief or interim or provisional relief from a court of competent jurisdiction, including a temporary restraining order, preliminary injunction or other interim equitable relief, concerning a Dispute either prior to or during any arbitration if necessary to protect the interests of such Party or to preserve the status quo pending the arbitration proceeding.
- 15.8. All proceedings and decisions of the Panel shall be deemed Confidential Information of each Party, and shall be subject to Article 10. Except to the extent necessary to confirm or enforce the Award or as may be required by the Applicable Laws, neither Party nor any member of the Panel may disclose the existence, content, Award, or other results of the arbitration without the prior written consent of both Parties.
- 15.9. Any relevant time period related to a Party's obligations under this Agreement in connection with a Dispute, including any cure period with respect thereto, shall be tolled during the dispute resolution proceeding pursuant to this Article 15 for such Dispute.

16. MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

- 16.1. **Limitation of Liability**. Neither Party shall be liable to the other Party for any special, consequential, incidental, punitive, or indirect damages arising from or relating to this Agreement, regardless of any notice of the possibility of such damages.
- 16.2. **Governing Law.** This Agreement and all questions, disputes, suits, actions, or proceedings that arise under or in any way relates to the existence, validity, interpretation, breach, termination, or performance of this Agreement or any transactions contemplated thereby shall be governed by, construed according to and enforced in accordance with the laws of Hong Kong, without regard to the conflict of law principles thereof.
- 16.3. **Entire Agreement; Modification.** This Agreement (including any Exhibits hereto) constitutes the Parties' entire agreement with respect to the matters set forth herein. This Agreement supersedes all prior and contemporaneous agreements and communications, whether oral, written or otherwise, concerning such matters contained herein. No rights or licenses with respect to any intellectual property of either Party are granted hereunder or in connection herewith, other than those expressly granted in this Agreement. No trade customs, courses of dealing or courses of performance by the Parties shall modify, supplement or explain any terms used in this Agreement. This Agreement may only be amended, modified or supplemented in a writing expressly stated for such purpose and signed by the Parties.
- 16.4. **Relationship.** The Parties' relationship, as established by this Agreement, is solely that of independent contractors. This Agreement does not create any partnership, joint venture or similar business relationship between the Parties. Neither Party is a legal representative of the other Party, and neither Party can assume or create any obligation, representation, warranty or guarantee, express or implied, on behalf of the other Party for any purpose whatsoever.
- 16.5. **Non-Waiver.** The failure of a Party to insist upon strict performance of any provision of this Agreement or to exercise any right arising out of this Agreement shall neither impair that provision or right nor constitute a waiver of that provision or right, in whole or in part, in that instance or in any other instance. Any waiver by a Party of a particular provision or right shall be in writing and signed by such Party and as to a particular matter and period of time.
- 16.6. **Assignment**. Neither this Agreement nor any rights or obligations hereunder may be assigned or otherwise transferred by either Party without the other Party's prior written consent; provided that a Party may assign this Agreement without the other Party's consent:
 - 16.6.1. To its successor in connection with the transfer or sale of all or substantially all of the assets of such Party to which this Agreement relates, whether by merger, sale of stock, sale of assets or otherwise, provided that such successor executes a written agreement, in the form reasonably acceptable to the non-transferring Party, explicitly confirming agreement with all the terms and conditions of this Agreement, and provided further, regardless whether this Agreement is actually assigned or is assumed by an acquiring party by operation of law (e.g., in the context of a reverse triangular merger), the intellectual property rights of the

acquiring party to such transaction, existing prior to such transaction or after such transaction but not related to this Agreement, will not be included in the License in accordance with this Agreement; or

- 16.6.2. To an Affiliate of the assigning Party, provided that such Affiliate executes a written agreement, in the form reasonably acceptable to the non-transferring Party, explicitly confirming agreement with all the terms and conditions of this Agreement and provided further that the assigning Party and such Affiliate will be jointly and severally liable and responsible to the non-transferring Party hereto for the performance and observance all such duties and obligations of the assigning Party by such Affiliate.
- 16.6.3. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary hereunder, Licensor may freely assign its rights to receive payment hereunder in whole or in part to any Affiliate or Third Party and shall, have the right to disclose this Agreement on a confidential basis in connection therewith, provided, however, that Licensor shall provide Licensee with a no less than [***] written notice of the identify of such Affiliate or Third Party, to which the right to receive payment is assigned or contemplated to assign.
- 16.6.4. The rights and obligations of the Parties under this Agreement will be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the successors and permitted assigns of the Parties, including the Parties' agreement with respect to dispute resolution and governing law as set forth in Article 15 and Section 16.2. Any assignment not in accordance with this Agreement will be void.
- 16.7. **No Third Party Beneficiaries.** This Agreement is neither expressly nor impliedly made for the benefit of any party other than the Parties and their Indemnitees.
- 16.8. **Severability.** In the event any provision of this Agreement is held invalid, illegal or unenforceable, to the fullest extent permitted by the Applicable Laws, (a) the Parties shall negotiate in good faith and amend this Agreement to agree on a valid, legal and enforceable substitute provision that most nearly reflects the original intent of the Parties and (b) if the rights and obligations of the Parties will not be materially and adversely affected, all other provisions of this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect. Such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability shall not affect the validity, legality or enforceability of such other provisions.
- 16.9. **Notices.** Except as expressly provided hereunder, any notice required or permitted under this Agreement shall be in writing. Any such notice must be delivered either in person, by any method of mail (postage prepaid) requiring return receipt, or by overnight courier or facsimile confirmed thereafter by any of the foregoing, to the Party to be notified at its address(es) given below, or at any address such party has previously designated by prior written notice to the other. Notice shall be deemed sufficiently given for all purposes upon the earlier of: (a) the date of actual receipt, if hand-delivered; (b) if mailed by first class certified or registered airmail, postage prepaid, return receipt requested, [***] after the date of postmark; (c) if delivered by internationally recognized overnight courier, the next Business Day the courier regularly makes deliveries (taking into consideration the location of the sending Party and the receiving Party); (d) on the day of dispatch if sent by confirmed facsimile; or (e) upon delivery receipt confirming that the notice was delivered to the recipient's email if sent by

electronic mail, *provided* that such notice is also sent by a reputable courier service or first class certified or registered airmail, postage prepaid, return receipt requested.

If to Licensee, notices must be addressed to:

Simcere Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. 699-18 Xuanwu Avenue, Xuanwu District, Nanjing, Jiangsu Attention: Xianjun Guo Telephone: +86 13916527506 E-mail: guoxianjun@simcere.com

If to Licensor, notices must be addressed to:

Connect Biopharma HongKong Limited

Suite 603, 6/F, Laws Commercial Plaza, 788 Cheung Sha Wan Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong

Attention: Leo Mao/Jeff Jiang

Telephone: 0512-53577866

E-mail: qxpan@connectpharm.com/ fjiang@connectpharm.com

4th Floor, East R&D Building, Science & Technology Park, No.6 Beijing West Road, Tai Cang, Jiangsu, China

Attention: Leo Mao

Telephone: 0512-53577866

E-mail: qxmao@connectpharm.com

- 16.10. **Force Majeure.** Both Parties shall be excused from the performance of their respective obligations under this Agreement to the extent that such performance is prevented by a Force Majeure Event; provided that the non-performing Party shall provide written notice thereof to the other Party within [***] after its occurrence. Such excuse shall be continued only for so long as (a) the condition constituting the Force Majeure Event continues and (b) the non-performing Party uses Commercially Reasonable Efforts to remove the condition. Notwithstanding the foregoing, a Party shall not be excused from making payments owed hereunder because of a Force Majeure Event affecting such Party. Upon cessation of such force majeure event, the non-performing Party will promptly resume performance hereunder.
- 16.11. **Assistance.** Each Party will, at the reasonable request of the other Party, use reasonable efforts to execute and deliver additional instruments or documents, and to perform further acts, as are necessary in order to effectuate and carry out this Agreement; provided that the foregoing shall not require a Party to incur additional

expenses or grant new rights to the other Party. The Parties agree to act in good faith and enter into any additional agreements as reasonably necessary for the Development, Manufacture and Commercialization of the Licensed Compound or any Licensed Product, subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement.

- 16.12. **Interpretation and Language.** The captions to the several Articles and Sections of this Agreement are not a part of the terms of this Agreement but are included for convenience of reference only and shall not be used in construing or interpreting this Agreement. In this Agreement: (a) the word "including" shall be deemed to be followed by the phrase "without limitation" or like expression; (b) the singular shall include the plural and vice versa; (c) masculine, feminine and neuter pronouns and expressions shall be interchangeable; (d) except where the context requires otherwise, "or" has the inclusive meaning represented by the phrase "and/or"; and (e) a reference to any document includes any supplements and amendments to such document. The terms of this Agreement are mutually agreed by the Parties and no rule of strict construction shall be applied against either Party. The controlling language of this Agreement is Chinese. Any translation of this Agreement in another language shall be deemed for convenience only and shall never prevail over the original Chinese version.
- 16.13. **Counterparts.** This Agreement may be executed in two or more counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original document, and all of which, together with this writing, shall be deemed one instrument. The words "execution," "signed," "signature," and words of like import in this Agreement or in any other document related to this Agreement, shall include images of manually executed signatures transmitted by facsimile or other electronic format (including, without limitation, PDF, JPG or TIF) and other electronic signatures (including, without limitation, DocuSign and AdobeSign). The use of electronic signatures and electronic records (such as those created, generated, sent, received, or stored by electronic means) shall be of the same legal effect, validity and enforceability as a manually executed signature or use of a paper-based record-keeping system to the fullest extent permitted by the Applicable Laws.

{Signature Page Follows}

Connect Biopharma HongKong Limited

签署人: /s/ Wubin Pan By:

姓名:潘武宾 Name:Wubin Pan

Title: Chairman & President

苏州康乃德生物医药有限公司 Suzhou Connect Biopharma Co., Ltd.

签署人: /s/ Wubin Pan By:

姓名:潘武宾 Name:Wubin Pan

Title: Chairman & President

先声药业有限公司 Simcere Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.

签署人: /s/ Jinsheng Ren By:

姓名:任晋生 Name:

职务:董事长、首席执行官Title: Chairman & CEO



Connect Biopharma Announces Positive Long-Term Data from the China Pivotal Trial of Rademikibart in Patients with Moderate-to-Severe Atopic Dermatitis

- Clinical response (IGA 0/1 and EASI-75) achieved at Week 16 with rademikibart treatment was maintained through Week 52 with both every two weeks (Q2W) and every four weeks (Q4W) dosing regimens
 - Approximately 90% of patients on Q4W dose maintained both IGA 0/1 and EASI-75 through Week 52
- Over 36 weeks of treatment in Stage 2 of the study, the percentage of patients achieving IGA 0/1 and EASI-75 continued to increase
- Rademikibart continued to be well tolerated over 52 weeks of treatment
- A conference call and webcast presentation to discuss the data will be held today at 8:30 a.m. ET, details below

SAN DIEGO, CA and TAICANG, China, November 21, 2023 -- Connect Biopharma Holdings Limited (Nasdaq: CNTB) ("Connect Biopharma" or the "Company"), a global clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company dedicated to improving the lives of patients with chronic inflammatory diseases through the development of therapies derived from T cell-driven research, announced today positive topline results from the Stage 2 (maintenance period) of its China pivotal trial evaluating rademikibart's (formerly known as CBP-201) efficacy and safety in patients with moderate-to-severe atopic dermatitis (AD). These results follow the previously reported Stage 1 results of the trial, which met all primary and key secondary endpoints.

"We are very pleased with the Stage 2 results of our pivotal China trial, showing that the strong improvements observed in patients at Week 16 in Stage 1 were maintained with both every two weeks and every four weeks dosing regimens," said Zheng Wei, Ph.D., Co-Founder and CEO of Connect Biopharma. "This study demonstrated that rademikibart has a best-in-class potential, and if approved as a Q4W treatment, we believe could offer patients with AD a highly efficacious treatment with less frequent dosing than current approved treatments. I'd like to thank the patients, their families, the clinical and manufacturing teams, and all of our vendors that were an integral part of this trial. In addition, as announced today, we are excited to partner with Simcere Pharmaceutical to advance rademikibart as a potential new treatment option for patients with AD and potentially other disease indications in Greater China."

Positive Stage 2 results at Week 52 show the potential of rademikibart as a Q4W treatment for AD

In Stage 2, patients that achieved EASI-50 (responders) regardless of initial treatment in the 16-week Stage 1 were randomized to either Q2W rademikibart (n=113) or Q4W rademikibart (n=112) arms. Patients that did not achieve EASI-50 (non-responders) were assigned to an open label Q2W rademikibart arm (n=86).

An efficacy analysis in patients that achieved IGA 0/1 or EASI-75 at Week 16 showed that with both Q2W at Q4W dosing regimens, 76%-87% of them maintained their IGA 0/1 and 92% of patients maintained their EASI-75 at Week 52, respectively.

	Rademikibart Week 52 Results In patients that achieved IGA 0/1 or EASI-75 at Week 16		
	Rademikibart	Rademikibart	
	300 mg Q4W	300 mg Q2W	
IGA 0/1 with	87.2%	76.0%	
≥2-point reduction	(n=40)	(n=34)	
EASI-75	91.9% (n=79)	91.7% (n=76)	

Evaluation of all patients that achieved EASI-50 at Week 16 with rademikibart (active drug responders) showed continued improvement from Week 16 to Week 52. 21%-28% more patients achieved IGA 0/1, and 11%-16% more patients achieved EASI-75 at Week 52.

	Rademikibart Week 52 Results In patients that achieved EASI-50 at Week 16			
	Rademikibart 300 mg Q4W (n=91)		Rademikibart 300 mg Q2W (n=91)	
	Week 16	Week 52	Week 16	Week 52
IGA 0/1 with ≥2-point reduction	41.8%	62.6%	30.9%	59.1%
EASI-75	73.6%	84.6%	68.5%	84.8%

Additionally, of the patients who achieved a clinically meaningful \geq 4-point reduction in peak pruritus numerical rating scale (PP-NRS), 95.2% were able to maintain that level with Q4W dosing and 81.6% with Q2W dosing at the end of the study. With respect to quality of life, a \geq 5-point reduction on the dermatology life quality index (DLQI) is considered clinically important and 93.4% (Q2W) and 90.0% (Q4W) were able to maintain this level at the end of the 52-week study.

Treatment with 300 mg Q2W and Q4W of rademikibart was generally well tolerated, and there were no new safety signals. There was only one patient discontinuation due to an adverse event (pregnancy) in the rademikibart Q2W open label arm.

"The maintenance data of rademikibart out to Week 52 from the China pivotal trial are very compelling. They build upon the strong results shown in the first 16 weeks of treatment, showing additional gains in efficacy with continued treatment with rademikibart, as well as very high rates of maintained efficacy with Q4W dosing of rademikibart," commented Jonathan Silverberg, M.D., Ph.D., M.P.H., a Professor of Dermatology at The George Washington University School of Medicine and Health Sciences in Washington, DC. "Moderate-severe AD is a chronic disease with high patient-burden. Multiple unmet needs remain with current treatment options. Having a therapy with more sustained efficacy and convenient dosing may improve clinical outcomes and is a welcome addition to our treatment armamentarium."

The Company separately announced today that it granted the development and commercial rights of rademikibart in Greater China to Simcere Pharmaceutical, a large pharmaceutical company in China with an extensive partnership track record and proven capabilities in regulatory affairs, manufacturing, clinical operations and commercialization. Simcere will be responsible for rademikibart's new drug application in China, which is still on track for submission by the end of Q1 2024. Additionally, Connect Biopharma remains on track for the topline readout next month from its global Phase 2 trial of rademikibart in patients with moderate-to-severe asthma.

Conference Call and Webcast Presentation

Connect Biopharma management team will host a conference call and webcast presentation today at 8:30 a.m. ET to review the trial results. Jonathan Silverberg, M.D. will be present to answer clinical questions during the live Q&A session. To participate in the conference call, please dial 1-877-407-0784 (U.S.) or 1-201-689-8560 (international) and use conference ID 13742753. To access the webcast presentation, please click here.

A replay of the webcast and accompanying presentation will be available following the event through the Presentations, Events and News page of the Investors section of the Connect Biopharma website.

About Rademikibart China Pivotal Trial (CN002)

The China pivotal trial comprised of two stages. The 16-week Stage 1 included patients randomized to Q2W rademikibart (n=219) and placebo arms (n=111). A primary analysis of 255 patients from Stage 1 (induction stage) showed that all primary and key secondary endpoints were met, showing statistically significant improvements in IGA 0/1 and EASI-75. Following communications with China's Center for Drug Evaluation, the trial was expanded to include an additional 75 patients towards the end of Stage 1. Consistent with the initial analysis, all primary and key secondary endpoints were met in the expanded trial population. In Stage 2 (maintenance stage), patients that achieved EASI-50 (responders) regardless of initial treatment in Stage 1 were randomized to either Q2W rademikibart (n=112) arms. Patients who did not achieve EASI-50 (non-responders) were assigned to an open label Q2W rademikibart arm (n=86). Patients were treated with 300 mg Q2W or Q4W for an additional 36-week period (through Week 52).

About Connect Biopharma Holdings Limited

Connect Biopharma is a global, clinical-stage biopharmaceutical company applying its expertise in T cell biology and deep knowledge of the drug discovery industry to develop innovative therapies to treat chronic inflammatory diseases with the goal of improving the lives of millions of those affected around the world. The Company is building a rich pipeline of proprietary small molecules and antibodies, using functional T cell assays, to screen and discover potent product candidates against validated immune targets. The Company's lead product candidate, rademikibart (formerly known as CBP-201), is an antibody designed to target interleukin-4 receptor alpha (IL-4R α) in development for the treatment of atopic dermatitis (AD) and asthma. The Company's second product candidate, icanbelimod (formerly known as

CBP-307), is a modulator of S1P1 T cell receptors and is in development for the treatment of ulcerative colitis (UC). The Company's third product candidate, CBP-174, is an investigational antagonist of histamine receptor 3 designed to act peripherally, in development for the treatment of pruritus associated with AD. For more information, please visit: https://www.connectbiopharm.com/

Forward-Looking Statements

Connect Biopharma cautions that statements included in this release that are not a description of historical facts are forward-looking statements. Words such as "may," "could," "will," "would," "should," "expect," "plan," "anticipate," "believe," "estimate," "intend," "predict," "seek," "contemplate," "look forward," "potential," "continue" or "project" or the negative of these terms or other comparable terminology are intended to identify forward-looking statements. These statements include the Company's plans to advance the development of its product candidates, the timing of achieving any development or regulatory milestones or reporting data or whether such milestones or data will be achieved or generated, including whether any new drug application will be submitted or accepted and the timing thereof, and the potential of such product candidates, including to achieve any benefit, improvement, differentiation or profile or any product approval or be effective, and whether the Company's Greater China partnership will meet expectations. The inclusion of forward-looking statements should not be regarded as a representation by Connect Biopharma that any of its plans will be achieved. Actual data may differ materially from those set forth in this release due to the risks and uncertainties inherent in the Company's business and other risks described in the Company's filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), including the Company's Annual Report on Form 20-F filed with the SEC on April 11, 2023, and its other reports. Investors are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date hereof, and Connect Biopharma undertakes no obligation to revise or update this release to reflect events or circumstances after the date hereof. Further information regarding these and other risks is included in Connect Biopharma's filings with the SEC which are available from the SEC's website (www.sec.gov) and on Connect Biopharma's website (www.connectbiopharm.com) under the heading "Investors." All forwardlooking statements are qualified in their entirety by this cautionary statement. This caution is made under the safe harbor provisions of Section 21E of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995.

INVESTOR CONTACT:

Tim McCarthy LifeSci Advisors tim@lifesciadvisors.com

MEDIA CONTACT:

Mari Purpura LifeSci Advisors mpurpura@lifesciadvisors.com